Bath & North East
Somerset Council

Democratic Services

Guildhall, High Street, Bath BA1 5AW

Telephone: (01225) 477000 main switchboard Date: 16 February 2016

Direct Lines - Tel: 01225 395090 E-mail:.  Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk

Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk

To: All Members of the Avon Pension Fund Committee - Investment Panel

Councillor Christopher Pearce (Chair), Councillor David Veale, Councillor Cherry Beath,
Ann Berresford, Councillor Mary Blatchford and Shirley Marsh

Chief Executive and other appropriate officers

Press and Public
Dear Member
Avon Pension Fund Committee - Investment Panel: Wednesday, 24th February, 2016
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Avon Pension Fund Committee - Investment
Panel, to be held on Wednesday, 24th February, 2016 at 2.00 pm in the Chandos Room -
Fry Club and Conference Centre.

The agenda is set out overleaf.

Yours sincerely

Sean O'Neill
for Chief Executive

If you need to access this agenda or any of the supporting reports in an alternative
accessible format please contact Democratic Services or the relevant report author
whose details are listed at the end of each report.

This Agenda and all accompanying reports are printed on recycled paper




NOTES:

Inspection of Papers: Any person wishing to inspect minutes, reports, or a list of the
background papers relating to any item on this Agenda should contact Sean O'Neill who is
available by telephoning Bath 01225 395090 or by calling at the Guildhall Bath (during
normal office hours).

Public Speaking at Meetings: The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to
make their views known at meetings. They may make a statement relevant to what the
meeting has power to do. They may also present a petition or a deputation on behalf of a
group. Advance notice is required not less than two full working days before the meeting
(this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays notice must be received in Democratic
Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday)

The public may also ask a question to which a written answer will be given. Questions
must be submitted in writing to Democratic Services at least two full working days in
advance of the meeting (this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays, notice must
be received in Democratic Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday). If an answer cannot
be prepared in time for the meeting it will be sent out within five days afterwards. Further
details of the scheme can be obtained by contacting Sean O'Neill as above.

Recording at Meetings:-

The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now allows filming and
recording by anyone attending a meeting. This is not within the Council’s control.

Some of our meetings are webcast. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all
or part of the meeting is to be filmed. If you would prefer not to be filmed for the webcast,
please make yourself known to the camera operators.

To comply with the Data Protection Act 1998, we require the consent of parents or
guardians before filming children or young people. For more information, please speak to
the camera operator

The Council will broadcast the images and sound live via the internet
www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast An archived recording of the proceedings will also be
available for viewing after the meeting. The Council may also use the images/sound
recordings on its social media site or share with other organisations, such as broadcasters.

Details of Decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be
published as soon as possible after the meeting, and also circulated with the agenda for
the next meeting. In the meantime details can be obtained by contacting Sean O'Neill as
above.

Appendices to reports are available for inspection as follows:-

Public Access points - Reception: Civic Centre - Keynsham, Guildhall - Bath, Hollies -
Midsomer Norton, and Bath Central, Keynsham and Midsomer Norton public libraries.

For Councillors and Officers papers may be inspected via Political Group Research
Assistants and Group Rooms/Members' Rooms.

Attendance Register: Members should sign the Register which will be circulated at the
meeting.



6. THE APPENDED SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ARE IDENTIFIED BY AGENDA ITEM
NUMBER.

7. Emergency Evacuation Procedure

When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the
designated exits and proceed to the named assembly point. The designated exits are
sign-posted.

Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people.



Avon Pension Fund Committee - Investment Panel - Wednesday, 24th February, 2016
at 2.00 pm in the Chandos Room - Fry Club and Conference Centre

AGENDA

EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

The Chair will draw attention to the emergency evacuation procedure as set out under
Note 9.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

At this point in the meeting declarations of interest are received from Members in any
of the agenda items under consideration at the meeting. Members are asked to
complete the green interest forms circulated to groups in their pre-meetings (which will
be announced at the Council Meeting) to indicate:

(a) The agenda item number in which they have an interest to declare.
(b) The nature of their interest.

(c) Whether their interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or an other interest,
(as defined in Part 2, A and B of the Code of Conduct and Rules for Registration of
Interests)

Any Member who needs to clarify any matters relating to the declaration of interests is
recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer or a member of his
staff before the meeting to expedite dealing with the item during the meeting.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS

To receive any declarations from Members of the Committee and Officers of
personal/prejudicial interests in respect of matters for consideration at this meeting,
together with their statements on the nature of any such interest declared.

TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR

ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS,
STATEMENTS, PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS

ITEMS FROM COUNCILLORS AND CO-OPTED AND ADDED
MEMBERS

To deal with any petitions or questions from Councillors and, where appropriate, co-
opted and added members.

MINUTES: 18 NOVEMBER 2015 (Pages 7 - 12)

REVIEW OF INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE FOR PERIODS ENDING



31 DEC 2015 (Pages 13 - 82)

Before discussing Exempt Appendix 3 the Panel is invited to pass the following
resolution:

The Committee having been satisfied that the public interest would be better
served by not disclosing relevant information and in accordance with the
provisions of Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, RESOLVES
that the public should be excluded from the meeting for Exempt Appendix 1 and
the reporting of this item be prevented under Section 100A(5A), because of the
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 1 and 2 of Part 1
of Schedule 12A of the Act, as amended.

The Committee Administrator for this meeting is Sean O'Neill who can be contacted on
01225 395090.

Protocol for Decision-making

Guidance for Members when making decisions

When making decisions, the Cabinet/Committee must ensure it has regard only to relevant
considerations and disregards those that are not material.

The Cabinet/Committee must ensure that it bears in mind the following legal duties when
making its decisions:

e Equalities considerations

¢ Risk Management considerations

e Crime and Disorder considerations

e Sustainability considerations

e Natural Environment considerations

e Planning Act 2008 considerations

e Human Rights Act 1998 considerations
e Children Act 2004 considerations

e Public Health & Inequalities considerations



Whilst it is the responsibility of the report author and the Council’s Monitoring Officer and Chief
Financial Officer to assess the applicability of the legal requirements, decision makers should
ensure they are satisfied that the information presented to them is consistent with and takes
due regard of them.



Agenda Item 7

Bath and North East Somerset Council

AVON PENSION FUND COMMITTEE - INVESTMENT PANEL

Minutes of the Meeting held
Wednesday, 18th November, 2015, 9.30 am

Members: Councillor Christopher Pearce (Chair), Councillor David Veale, Councillor
Cherry Beath, Ann Berresford, Councillor Mary Blatchford and Shirley Marsh

Advisors: Tony Earnshaw (Independent Advisor), Steve Turner (Mercer) and James Giles
(Mercer)

Also in attendance: Tony Bartlett (Head of Business, Finance and Pensions), Liz
Woodyard (Investments Manager), Matt Betts (Assistant Investments Manager) and
Matthew Clapton (Investments Officer)

12 EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE
The Democratic Services Officer read out the procedure.
13 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were none.
14  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS
There were none.
15 TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR
There was none.

16 ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, STATEMENTS,
PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS

There were none.

17  ITEMS FROM COUNCILLORS AND CO-OPTED AND ADDED MEMBERS
There were none.

18  MINUTES: 11 SEPTEMBER 2015

The public and exempt minutes of the meeting of 11 September 2015 were approved
as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

19 MANAGING LIABILITIES - ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS

The Investments Manager introduced this item. She reminded members that at the
previous meeting they had examined the concept of better matching the Fund'’s
asset base to its liabilities and thereby reducing volatility in the funding position. They
had considered the use of index-linked gilts to help with the management of inflation

Page 1
Page 7



risks throughout the portfolio. At the end of the discussion the Panel had asked for
further work to be done, in particular on how the framework would impact on the
Fund’s portfolios in terms of cash flow. Mercer’s had accordingly prepared another
presentation, which had been circulated with the agenda. She said that if the
decision was taken to adopt the proposal in principle, the implementation would be
spread over a period of years and would be taken into account in the next valuation.

Mr Turner and Mr Giles commented on the Mercer document Risk management
framework — further training and scenario analysis, which had been circulated with
the agenda.

Mr Turner said the aim was to address the volatility in and growth of the deficit with a
long-term plan to manage risk in an effective way. He reminded Members that since
the last valuation the funding level had been as high as 87%, but had nhow come
down to about 75%. Liabilities had increased. At the previous meeting the Panel had
decided to implement the first step, which was to switch the Fund’s current holdings
in fixed interest and overseas and overseas government bonds into index-linked gilts
(to hedge 12% of the Fund). Mercer was in addition proposing that leveraging should
be used to allow the Fund to match 36% of funded liabilities. The presentation gave
details of the hedging instruments that could be employed. These were divided into
physical instruments (fixed-interest gilts, corporate bonds, and index-linked gilts) and
synthetic/derivative instruments (interest rate swaps, inflation swaps and gilt repos).

The report by Mercer was debated with significant discussion around the concept of
leverage, the risks arising from leverage and how they would be managed including
credit and counterparty risk and how the cash flows would be effectively hedged.

Responding to comments from the Independent Investment Adviser and from
Members about the timing of investments, Mr Turner said timing was important, but
there would never be a magic bullet to cope with short-term market changes; what
was important was having a long-term plan to increase the level of protection. He did
not think that interest rates would rise significantly in the near future. However, the
deficit had risen, which would affect the valuation this year, and as the scheme is still
open the liabilities will continue to grow.

The Chair asked Mr Turner about the supply of instruments to hedge the liabilities as
supply might dry up as an increasing number of pension schemes invested in them,
with the implication that the Fund should invest in them as soon as possible. Mr
Turner thought that an increase in demand of a magnitude that would exhaust the
supply was unrealistic, but a large volume of transactions would keep yields down.
The Investments Manager said this needed to put in context, by, for example,
comparison with how gilt yields had behaved over the past 10-20 years. Gilt yields
are lower than they would be, because of pressure from pension funds to hedge their
liabilities. But there were other factors, such as expectations for interest rates and
inflation and the Government’s stated intention to have a budget surplus rather than
a deficit, which made it difficult to predict the trend in gilt yields. Mr Turner said that
there was reason not to delay hedging, and the Fund should be considering a three-
year programme to increase its investment in hedging instruments.

Representatives from Insight Asset Management gave a presentation on how an
investment manager would implement such a strategy and how they would manage
the risks and cashflows.

Page 2 of 5
Page 8



20

Responding to a question from a Member, the Investments Manager said that
hedging of liabilities could be done within a pooling arrangement of LGPS funds, or
could be kept independent of the pooling arrangements.

Members had further questions about the complexity of the concept, the mechanics
of implementation and the difficulty of assessing the risks involved. One said LGPS
funds are reluctant to get involved in such investments, because their complexity is
challenging. Mr Turner replied that LGPS funds now regularly invested in asset
classes that had once seemed too complex.

A Member asked how many LGPS funds were currently using this kind of hedging
strategy. Mr Turner said that there were about ten.

The Head of Business, Finance and Pensions referred to the court ruling some years
ago that it was unlawful for local authorities to invest in interest rate swaps, which
was made after some local authority treasury departments had been using them for
about seven years. Local authorities were therefore still cautious about this type of
instrument. A Member asked whether it was now lawful for LGPS funds to invest in
them. The Investments Manager replied said the investment regulations were going
to be reviewed, and when updated should allow funds to adopt an investment
framework that would allow this. However, funds were currently able to invest via
pooled funds. It would take a long time to develop a liability hedging framework,
which was why work on it had begun now.

RESOLVED:

1. That, in principle, the Fund should put a framework in placed to more
effectively use the investment assets to match the liabilities.

2. To prepare a framework to be considered by the Panel for recommendation to
the Committee. The proposal will bring together the work done to date and the
proposed framework, including a 3 year plan to increase the level of matching
and a longer term plan to reach a target level of matching when affordable.

After the discussion was concluded, the Head of Business, Finance and Pensions
said that it was likely that Members still had questions about these issues. He
suggested that it would unproductive if at the next meeting there was a rerun of
today’s discussions, so he invited Members to email any questions or concerns to
the Investments Manager. Officers would then prepare a response identifying the
benefits that could be achieved from this proposal.

The Chair said that a great deal of information had been presented to Members, and
that it was important not to let the details obscure the fundamental issues. He said
that a future report should focus on the basic principles and on how and when the
proposal might be implemented. The Investments Manager suggested that the
framework and the timescale of implementation could not be discussed until the
basis for the next valuation was known.

REBALANCING POLICY

The Assistant Investments Manager presented the report. He said that there were
target allocations for the different asset classes in the Fund, which were permitted to

Page 3 of 5
Page 9



21

drift within defined ranges. Rebalancing was important to ensure that the Fund’s
assets remain invested in line with the target investment strategy. It also forced the
selling of relatively expensive assets and the purchase of relatively cheap assets,
tending to add value over time.

The Fund’s current rebalancing policy was given in Appendix 1. For liquid assets the
present policy allowed rebalancing between growth and stabilising assets when the
balance deviated by +/-2%, and automatic rebalancing took place when the deviation
was +/- 5%. Mercer had reviewed the policy, and were proposing narrower ranges
and a more robust decision-making framework to reflect their views on the market
outlook for different asset classes. The table on agenda page 163 showed the
proposed rebalancing ranges. Two rebalancing ranges were set for each asset class
in addition to the neutral range, according to whether the assets were deemed
unattractive or attractive. Mercer’s dashboard on page 127 summarised their view of
the attractiveness of different asset classes. .

The proposed delegations for the operation of the policy were set out in
subparagraphs 4, 5 and 6 of paragraph 6.1 of the report.

The Investments Manager explained that rebalancing was used for cash
management.

A Member commented that the ‘attractive’ range proposed for emerging markets of
9-15% appeared high and out of line with the +/-1% ‘neutral’ range. She suggested
that it might be the right time to increase the benchmark allocation of 10% for
emerging markets, where good growth was to be expected in the longer term. Mr
Turner said that benchmark for equities overall was 50%, of which emerging markets
accounts for about one fifth of this and was a significant allocation.

RESOLVED to recommend to the Committee:
1. the revised rebalancing policy set out in Appendix 3 Section 1.
2. the implementation of the policy to be delegated to officers in consultation with

the investment consultants where appropriate, as set out in Appendix 3
Section 2.

REVIEW OF INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE

The Assistant Investments Manager introduced this item and summarised the key
performance information. He reported that Schroders were still rated amber on the
RAG monitoring report, but their relative one-year performance had improved
significantly. The mandates with Signet and Gottex had been terminated, so they no
longer appeared in the RAG report.

Mr Turner commented on the Mercer investment performance report.
A Member said that she would like to know the ESG ratings of the Fund’s investment

managers. Mr Turner said this information could be provided.

Page 4 of 5
Page 10



RESOLVED to note the report.

The meeting ended at 12.23 pm

Chair(person)

Prepared by Democratic Services

Page 11

Page 5 of 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



Agenda Item 8

Bath & North East Somerset Council

MEETING: | AVON PENSION FUND INVESTMENT PANEL

MEETING AGENDA
24 FEBRUARY 2016 ITEM
DATE: NUMBER

Review Of Investment Performance For Periods Ending 31 December

TITLE: 2015

WARD: ALL

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

List of attachments to this report:

Appendix 1 — Fund Valuation

Appendix 2 — Mercer performance monitoring report (shortened version)
Exempt Appendix 3 — RAG Monitoring Summary Report

1 THE ISSUE

1.1 This paper reports on the performance of the Fund’s investment managers and
seeks to update the Panel on routine aspects of the Fund’'s investments. The
report contains performance statistics for period ending 31 December 2015.

1.2 The report focuses on the performance of the individual investment managers.
The full performance report with aggregate investment and funding analysis will be
reported to the Committee meeting on 18 March 2016.

2 RECOMMENDATION
That the Investment Panel:
2.1 Notes the information as set out in the reports.

2.2 Identifies any issues to be notified to the Committee.

Page 13




FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

2.3 The returns achieved by the Fund for the three years commencing 1 April 2013
will impact the next triennial valuation which will be calculated as at 31 March
2016. The returns quoted are net of investment management fees.

3 INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE
A — Fund Performance

3.1 The Fund’s assets increased by £104m (return of c. 2.9%) in the quarter ending
31 December 2015 giving a value for the investment Fund of £3,705m. Appendix
1 provides a breakdown of the Fund valuation and allocation of monies by asset
class and managers.

3.2 All Equity markets produced positive returns over the quarter in Sterling terms.
Emerging Markets was again the worst performing region (+3.1%) whilst the UK
All Share Index rose by 4%. Bond yields rose across all maturities over the
quarter leading to negative returns from Gilts. Corporate bonds made a small
positive performance over the quarter (+0.4%).

3.3 The Fund’s overall performance relative to benchmarks is unavailable at the time
of publishing. Full performance data will be reported to the Pensions Committee
on 18 March 2016.

B - Investment Manager Performance

3.4 A detailed report on the performance of each investment manager has been
produced by Mercer — see pages 26 to 46 of Appendix 2.

3.5 Jupiter, TT, Invesco, SSgA (Europe and Pacific), Genesis, BlackRock and RLAM
are all outperforming their three year performance targets. Schroder property,
Schroder global equity and Partners Group are underperforming their respective 3
year targets.

3.6 Exempt Appendix 3 summarises the latest Performance Monitoring Report used
internally to monitor manager performance. The summary report highlights the
managers that are rated Amber or Red, detailing the performance and/or
organisational issue(s), how they are being monitored and any actions taken by
officers and/or the Panel. This quarter 2 managers have an amber rating,
Schroder (global equity mandate) and Partners Group. There is an update on
these managers in Exempt Appendix 3. Schroder (property mandate) is
marginally underperforming their 3 year target but is within the tolerance level and
so retains a green rating — their performance remains above benchmark.

4 INVESTMENT STRATEGY AND PORTFOLIO REBALANCING

4.1 Asset Class Returns: Returns from developed equities and property significantly
outperformed the strategic assumptions over three years, whilst emerging market
equities and hedge funds underperformed significantly. The corporate bond return
has fallen marginally below the three year strategic assumption this quarter.

4.2 Fund of Hedge Funds: JPMorgan mandate is now fully funded following
drawdown of the final tranche in December, funded from the realisation of the
outgoing fund of hedge fund mandates.

4.3 Infrastructure: The Fund’s investments in infrastructure are awaiting drawdown
by the manager IFM who anticipate the first tranche of funds being drawn down in
the first half of 2016.

Page 14



4.4 Bond Portfolio: Changes to the bond portfolio agreed at the previous meeting are
in the process of being implemented.

4.5 Rebalancing: The Fund’'s new Rebalancing Policy was approved by Committee in
December and now looks at the allocations to each asset class rather than just
the equity:bond ratio. As at 10 February:

(1) Developed market equities were overweight (2.8% above maximum neutral
range of 42%) - this overweight will remain pending drawdown of investments
for the infrastructure mandate.

(2) Emerging market equities are underweight (0.5% below the minimum neutral
range of 9%) — yet to rebalance as Mercer outlook is ‘neutral’ but moving
towards ‘unattractive’. Given the recent volatility in emerging markets officers
are monitoring the position closely.

4.6 MIFID Il Update: The implementation of MiFID Il has been formally delayed by a
year until 3 January 2018 by the European Commission.

5 RISK MANAGEMENT

5.1 The Avon Pension Fund Committee is the formal decision-making body for the
Fund. As such it has responsibility to ensure adequate risk management
processes are in place. A key risk to the Fund is that the investments fail to
generate the returns required to meet the Fund’s future liabilities. This risk is
managed via the Asset Liability Study which determines the appropriate risk
adjusted return profile (or strategic benchmark) for the Fund and through the
selection process followed before managers are appointed. This report monitors
the performance of the investment managers. The Investment Panel has been
established to consider in greater detail investment performance and related
matters and report back to the Committee on a regular basis.

6 EQUALITIES

6.1 An equalities impact assessment is not necessary as the report is primarily for
information only.

7 CONSULTATION
7.1 This report is primarily for information and therefore consultation is not necessary.

8 ISSUES TO CONSIDER IN REACHING THE DECISION
8.1 The issues to consider are contained in the report.

9 ADVICE SOUGHT

9.1 The Council’'s Section 151 Officer (Divisional Director — Business Support) has
had the opportunity to input to this report and has cleared it for publication.

Contact person Matt Betts, Assistant Investments Manager (Tel: 01225 395420)
Background Data supplied by The WM Company
papers

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an
alternative format

Page 15




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



APPENDIX 1
AVON PENSION FUND VALUATION - 31 DECEMBER 2015

Mot Active Equities Enhanced | Active |  Funds of Hedge DGFs Property  |MHousel oral Aot

Asset Indexation Bonds Funds Cash Mix %
All figures in £m BlackRock| TT Int'l J(lépgﬁr Genesis | Unigestion Séllw;c;c;?r Invesco | SSgA L?)%zln M:rZan T;:}i(;\:tt;r;g Pyrford StaLr::aard SChJ:(der i g?/:?:;s: %Zzzrn?
EQUITIES
UK 204.0 203.6 165.0 36.2 608.8 16.43%
North America 220.9 124.9 345.8 9.3%
Europe 163.7 431 42.6 239.4 6.5%
Japan 39.2 22.7 43.8 105.7 2.9%
Pacific Rim 39.0 6.0 335 78.5 2.1%
Emerging Markets 136.4 166.3 15.8 0.0 318.4 8.6%
Global ex-UK 284 .4 284.4 7.7%
Global inc-UK 11.6 11.6 0.3%
Total Overseas 452.8 0.0 0.0 136.4 166.3 212.6 284.4 | 119.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 11.6 1383.83946 | 37.4%
Total Eﬂlities 656.7 203.6 165.0 136.4 166.3 248.8 2844 | 119.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 11.6 1992.6 53.8%
DGFs @ 1238 | 2415 365.2 9.9%
BOND
Index Linked Gilts 228.1 228.1 6.2%
Conventional Gilts 66.1 66.1 1.8%
Corporate Bonds 63.7 282.0 345.7 9.3%
Overseas Bonds 113.3 113.3 3.1%
Total Bonds 471.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 282.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 753.326061 | 20.3%
Hedge Funds 186.3 15.6 201.8 5.4%
Property 192.3 151.6 343.9 9.3%
Cash 5.4 24 11.0 4.4 1.7 23.2 48.1 1.3%
TOTAL 1133.4 206.0 176.1 136.4 166.3 253.2 284.4 119.9 282.0 186.3 15.6 123.8 241.5 194.0 151.6 34.8 3705.030924 | 100.0%




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



AVON PENSION FUND

PANEL INVESTMENT
PERFORMANCE REPORT

QUARTER TO 31

EBRUARY 2016

6T eﬁeeh

DECEMBER 2015

MAKE TOMORROW, TODAY @& MERCER



IMPORTANT NOTICES

References to Mercer shall be construed to include Mercer LLC and/or its associated companies.
© 2016 Mercer LLC. All rights reserved.

This contains confidential and proprietary information of Mercer and is intended for the exclusive use of the parties to whom it was provided by Mercer. Its content may not be
modified, sold or otherwise provided, in whole or in part, to any other person or entity, without Mercer’s prior written permission.

The findings, ratings and/or opinions expressed herein are the intellectual property of Mercer and are subject to change without notice. They are not intended to convey any
guarantees as to the future performance of the investment products, asset classes or capital markets discussed. Past performance does not guarantee future results. Mercer’s
ratings do not constitute individualized investment advice.

Information contained herein has been obtained from a range of third party sources. While the information is believed to be reliable, Mercer has not sought to verify it
independently. As such, Mercer makes no representations or warranties as to the accuracy of the information presented and takes no responsibility or liability (including for
indirect, consequential or incidental damages), for any error, omission or inaccuracy in the data supplied by any third party.

This does not contain regulated investment advice in respect of actions you should take. No investment decision should be made based on this information without obtaining prior
specific, professional advice relating to your own circumstances.

This does not constitute an offer or a solicitation of an offer to buy or sell securities, commodities and/or any other financial instruments or products or constitute a solicitation on
bé?\alf of any of the investment managers, their affiliates, products or strategies that Mercer may evaluate or recommend.
Q

FB the most recent approved ratings of an investment strategy, and a fuller explanation of their meanings, contact your Mercer representative.

)
F&® Mercer’s conflict of interest disclosures, contact your Mercer representative or see www.mercer.com/conflictsofinterest.

Mercer’s universes are intended to provide collective samples of strategies that best allow for robust peer group comparisons over a chosen timeframe. Mercer does not assert
that the peer groups are wholly representative of and applicable to all strategies available to investors.

Please also note:

* The value of investments can go down as well as up and you may not get back the amount you have invested. In addition investments denominated in a foreign currency will
fluctuate with the value of the currency.

» The valuation of investments in property based portfolios, including forestry, is generally a matter of a valuer’s opinion, rather than fact.

*  When there is no (or limited) recognised or secondary market, for example, but not limited to property, hedge funds, private equity, infrastructure, forestry, swap and other
derivative based funds or portfolios it may be difficult for you to obtain reliable information about the value of the investments or deal in the investments.

* Where the investment is via a fund of funds the investment manager typically has to rely on the underlying managers for valuations of the interests in their funds.

« Care should be taken when comparing private equity / infrastructure performance (which is generally a money-weighted performance) with quoted investment performance
(which is generally a time-weighted performance). Direct comparisons are not always possible.

© MERCER 2016 1



CONTENTS

« Executive Summary

* Market Background

» Strategic Assumptions
* Fund Valuations

« Performance Summary

T2 obed

« Manager Performance

« Appendices

© MERCER 2016

10
13
18
22
26
46



SECTION 1
;EXECUTIVE SUMMARY




EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

£z obed

This report has been prepared for the Investment Panel of the Avon Pension Fund (“the Fund”), to assess the
performance and risks of the investment managers of the Fund.

Fund performance
» The value of the Fund’s assets increased by £104m over the quarter, to £3,705m at 31 December 2015.
Strategy

* Global (developed) equity returns over the last three years at 13.6% p.a. have been significantly ahead of
the assumed strategic return of 8.25% p.a. from the strategic review in March 2013. We remain neutral in
our medium term outlook for developed market equities (over the next one to three years), and expect
returns to be more modest over the next three years.

* The three year return from emerging market equities has fallen to -2.9% p.a. from -2.2% p.a. last quarter.
The three year return remains well below the assumed strategic return (of 8.75% p.a.) as returns were
affected by an ongoing commodity price slump, a stronger US dollar and slowing growth in China. As with
developed markets, we are neutral in our medium term outlook for emerging market equities over the
next one to three years.

UK government bond returns over the three years to 31 December 2015 remain above the long term
strategic assumed returns (with fixed interest gilts returning 5.9% p.a. against an assumed return of 4.5%
p.a., and index-linked gilts returning 6.4% p.a. versus an assumed return of 4.25% p.a.) as investor
demand for gilts remains high. Whilst from an absolute return perspective government bonds remain
unattractive due to the low yields available, we continue to believe that their role in the context of the
overall portfolio is important from a liability risk management perspective.

© MERCER 2016



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Strategy (continued)

* UK corporate bonds returned 4.5% p.a. over the three year period, falling behind their assumed return of
5.5% p.a., while property returns of 14.6% continue to be substantially above the assumed strategic
return of 7% p.a.

* Hedge fund returns remain below long term averages and the strategic return of 6% p.a., as they are
affected by low cash rates.

« With most listed assets looking close to fully valued, if not fully valued, we would expect ‘alpha’ driven
investments such as hedge funds and dynamic multi-asset strategies to play an increasingly important
role in return generation over the coming three years, particularly if ‘beta’ (i.e. market-driven) returns are
lower looking forward. In light of reduced market liquidity, we also see opportunities for more dynamic and
active strategies to add value, and believe that there are likely to be opportunities arising in distressed
debt given the maturing credit cycle. Asset classes that can provide a reliable source of income such as
Long Lease Property, Private Debt and Infrastructure also offer relatively attractive sources of return, in
our view, given the current market outlook.

vz abed

© MERCER 2016



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Gz obed

Managers

© MERCER 2016

Absolute returns of the managers over the quarter were all positive. Unlike Q3, risky assets had a positive
quarter, in particular equities. State Street’s Asia Pacific equity mandate delivered the highest positive
return, whilst JP Morgan had the biggest relative return (at 4.1% relative to a benchmark return of 0.9%).

Returns over the year were also positive. The Fund’s global equity mandates in particular fared well,
however emerging market returns for the year were disappointing given the turmoil in China, the strong
dollar and plummeting oil prices, with Genesis and Unigestion returning -10.0% and -7.5% respectively,
(the latter still meeting its outperformance target despite the negative return, reflecting its lower volatility
premise).

Over three years, all mandates with a three year track record produced positive absolute returns (with the
exception of Genesis), with Partners failing to beat its benchmark (although see comments on the
measurement of their performance later). In addition, Schroder failed to achieve its three-year
performance objective for the property and global equity mandates, despite both beating their
benchmarks. The remainder of the active managers achieved their objectives.

Over the quarter, Jupiter announced that Chris Watt (the portfolio manager for their Responsible Income
Fund) is leaving the firm. While this doesn’t directly affect the Fund’s segregated mandate, which are
managed by Charlie Thomas (rather than Watt), Thomas will be taking over Watt’s role on the
Responsible Income Fund, which could be a stretch on his time. It also brings into question whether
Jupiter's Environmental and Sustainability investment team will be sufficiently resourced. Our
researchers will be following up with Jupiter to determine if there has been any change to the ESG
process. Our rating of ‘B’ is not being changed as a result, but we suggest the strategy is monitored.



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

9z abed

Key points for consideration

Over the quarter, the transition of the hedge fund mandate to JP Morgan was largely completed. A major
divestment of £49.2m was taken from Gottex on 16 November 2015, whilst £33.0m was divested from
Signet (final tranche occurred on 4 December 2015). As at the end of the quarter, residual balances
remain in these two funds until conditions to sell these down are met.

Global and regional equity markets produced positive performance over the quarter, leading to the Fund’s
asset level increase. Over the quarter, this positive experience was helped by rising gilt yields, meaning
the present value of the liabilities is expected to have decreased.

The beginning of 2016 has however seen considerable volatility, with the FTSE All World returning -6.4%
YTD to 5 February 2016, more than offsetting the gain of 4% made over 2015. Index-Linked Gilts (a proxy
for the liabilities on the current funding basis) returned 5.6% YTD to 5 February 2016 as real yields fell.

The Fund is in the process reviewing the Stabilising Asset portfolio and, as agreed at the last Panel
meeting, is transitioning the current fixed interest gilts and overseas government bonds to index-linked
gilts. This is expected to be completed in Q1 2016, depending on market conditions. Further discussion
on liability risk management will be undertaken at the March 2016 funding and investment Committee
workshop.

The infrastructure mandate remains unfunded as yet, with the Fund having a commensurate overweight
holding in developed equities.

© MERCER 2016



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
MANAGER INFORMATION

Research Short Term Long Term

Manager Mandate Performance Performance

Ratng (1 year) (3 year)

BlackRock Passive Multi-Asset

28

29

Jupiter UK Equities
TT International UK Equities
Schroder Global Equities

30

Emerging Market

Genesis

31

32

33

34

Equities
Unigestion Emergln_g_Market

Equities
Invesco Global ex-UK Equities
SSgA Europe ex-UK Equities
8 Pacific inc. Japan
S'&gA Equities

35

M\e'ets criteria A or B+ rating; achieved performance target

Partially meets criteria B, N or R rating; achieved benchmark return but not performance target

Does not meet criteria C rating; did not achieve benchmark

= Jupiter has informed us that Chris Watt, UK Equities (SRI) portfolio manager, will be leaving the firm. See page 28 for detail.

= Genesis has announced that investment manager Evgeny Kuznetsov has left the firm. See page 31 for detail.
= SSgA has informed us that President Greg Ehret is leaving the firm. See page 34 for detail.

= There were no changes to any ratings over the quarter.

© MERCER 2016



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
MANAGER INFORMATION CONTINUED

Research Short Term Long Term

Manager Mandate Performance Performance

Rating (1 year) (3 year)

Pyrford DGF N 36
Standard Life DGF 4 37
JP Morgan Fund of Hedge Funds N 39
Schroder UK Property 3 42
Partners Global Property 4 43
RLAM Bonds 3 44
Record Currency Management Currency Hedging N 45

Msets criteria A or B+ rating; achieved performance target

D
H?Drtially meets criteria B, N or R rating; achieved benchmark return but not performance target

[ges not meet criteria C rating; did not achieve benchmark

= Partners’ performance relative to benchmark is explained in more detail on page 43.

= There were no changes to any ratings over the quarter.

© MERCER 2016



SECTION 2
%\/IARKET BACKGROUND




MARKET BACKGROU
INDEX PERFORMANC

Equity Market Review

All major equity markets posted a positive return over the quarter with global equities delivering a return of 8.1% and 5.9% in sterling and local currency
terms respectively. Small capitalisation stocks, as measured by the FTSE World Small Cap Index, posted a positive return but underperformed the
broader equity market, returning 6.7% and 3.8% respectively in sterling and local currency terms.

Japan was the strongest performing equity market, returning 12.5% in sterling and 9.9% in local currency terms, remaining supported by the extremely
accommodative monetary policy regime and exceptional growth of corporate profits. In contrast, emerging markets were the worst performing region,
returning 3.1% and 1.2% in sterling and local currency terms respectively.

In the UK, the FTSE All-Share Index delivered a positive return of 4.0% over the quarter but underperformed the global equity market, partly due to a
relative overweight to oil and gas stocks and a relative underweight to technology stocks. Within the UK, large capitalisation stocks, as represented by the
FTSE 100 Index, continued to underperform the smaller segments of the market represented by the FTSE 250 and FTSE Small Cap indices, largely due
to the ongoing weakness of resource-led stocks which constitute a significantly larger proportion of the FTSE 100 Index.

Bond Market Review Currency Market Review

Bond yields rose across all maturities over the quarter, resulting in Over the quarter, sterling depreciated by 2.7% and 2.3% against the US

negative returns for investors. dollar and Japanese yen, respectively, but stayed largely unchanged
against the euro. The relative appreciation of the US dollar was due to

In the UK, government bond yields increased by ¢.10-20 bps across the strengthening economic fundamentals in the US and the Federal

curve, with the increase most pronounced at medium to long end of the Reserve Bank’s decision to raise short-term policy rates.

curve. Despite this, nominal yields remain well below long-term average

levels.

Commodity Market Review
Real yields also rose over the quarter, with the Over 5 Year Index- y

Linked Gilts Index posting a negative return of 3.3%. Commodity prices continued their fall over the quarter with energy prices
Credit spreads narrowed over the quarter by ¢.10 bps and amounted to Lsaa\?é?%;hgo%esﬂmgrogetrgir?gg‘:]gflj;gr:j%ellr:rss?;/:r:gﬁﬂ ?Se;gt);lépply glut,
c.1.4% for both the Sterling Non-Gilts All Stocks and Sterling Non-Gilts December, Brent Crude Oil traded around $35 70/barrel. a decrease of
Over 10 Year indices at the end of December. The benefit from the c.24.9% over the quarter ' ’

narrowing of credit spreads along with the income earned on corporate - '

b_orlléi |n|vezt.merL1Jtl2noredt_?an of{s?t the rgegatl\(? |mpatct of "’} B'Sseo/'n. gilt The negative price impact from the stronger US dollar also led to a fall in
yielgs, leading credit assets o post a positive return ot .57 In gold prices over the period by 4.7% with gold trading at $1,062/0z at end
sterling terms. December.

Source: Thomson Reuters Datastream.

© MERCER 2016 11



CKGROUND
ORMANCE

Return over the 3 months to 31 December 2015

MARKET
P

BA
INDEX RF

E

00O
it Srering Recurn
— - Local Currency Feturn
100 | — = - _— -
e L= K= '
—20.0 n
—20 O
s R
. Return over the 12 months to 31 December 2015
s Sterling Return
20c.0 mLocal Currency Return
100
-
() oo — E—-_B-—
«Q
a e Es s |
H
=200
=20 O
—G O
Return p.a. over the 3 years to 31 December 2015
30.0
W Sterling Return
20000 -
i = Locsl Currency Return
1000 F
o EMJ# I
-10U0
-20.0
-30.0
-40.0
3 el E =] ] e ] L - ) ] B
= F g *_@"‘@ ‘,g,s?*? \@*‘& o G w«\‘*‘b Q@!“F \gﬁ}*‘b - o A 5 &@‘“ﬁ, @(}sﬁ*‘ =
g = - T R P e Sl = 5T g gf
= & 4 o <F ¥ g dﬁd’ o &
g T et e g & =
?;}:.f% = -n::i'""’Zb

Source: Thomson Reuters Datastream.



SECTION 3
STRATEGIC
ASSUMPTIONS




MARKET BACKGROUND
INDEX PERFORMANCE VERSUS STRATEGY

Asset Class Strategy Assumed Return 3 year Index Return Comment
% p.a. % p.a.

Developed Equities Remains significantly ahead of the assumed strategic return.

(Global) 8.25 13.6 This has increased from 11.3% p.a. as the latest quarter’s return of 8.6% was considerably
(FTSE All-World Developed) higher than the 2.2% return of Q4 2012, which fell out of the 3 year return.

The three year return from emerging market equities has fallen from -2.2% p.a. last quarter,
8.75 -2.9 despite a return of 3.1% experienced last quarter as this was lower than the quarter that fell
out (5.1%). The three year return remains considerably below the assumed strategic return.

Emerging Market Equities

(FTSE AW Emerging)

DGFs are expected to produce an equity like return over the long term but with lower volatility
— this is the basis for the Libor and RPI based benchmarks. Low cash rates means that the
Diversified Growth Libor + 4% / RPI + 5% 45/6.8 Libor based benchmark has significantly underperformed the inflation (RPI) based benchmark
and the long term expected return from equity. During periods of strong equity returns, such
as the recent three year period, we would expect DGF to underperform equities.

UK Gilts

4.5 5.9
(FTSE Actuaries Over 15 Year Gilts) UK gilt returns remain above the long term strategic assumed return as yields remain low
Index Linked Gilts relative to historic averages. Returns have decreased compared to the previous quarter as a
(FTSE Actuaries Over 5 Year Index- 4.25 6.4 result of the rise in yields (and hence negative total returns) experienced in the last quarter.
Linked Gilts) Corporate bond returns have also reduced this quarter, and looking back over three years

UK Corporate Bonds 55 45 continue to be below the strategic assumed return.
(BofAML Sterling Non Gilts) . -

Overseas Fixed Interest

Although still lagging the strategic assumed return, the 3 year performance from overseas

ve M‘;fga" Global Government Bonds 55 0-9 fixed interest is now in positive territory due to positive returns this quarter.
ex UK

Hedge fund returns remain below long term averages and the strategic return, as they are
Fund of Hedge Funds 6.0 08 affected by low cash rates. Volatility remains low and recent returns have fallen slightly. It
(HERX Global Hedge Fund Index) ' ' should be noted that the index includes a wide variety of strategies that may have had very

divergent returns.

Property 20 14.6 Property returns continue to be above the expected returns, driven by the economic recovery
(IPD UK Monthly) ' ' in the US and the UK.

Source: Thomson Reuters Datastream.

© MERCER 2016 14



v¢ abed

s00
»

Extremely Unattractive Mercer’s current DAA
Unattractive position/view

Neutral

Attractive

Extremely Attractive time (if changed)

DEVELOPED MARKET EQUITIES

o Monetary policy remains generally
supportive of equity markets

4. Valuations have risen and, in the US in
x! . particular, are looking more expensive

Continued concerns over global growth
/1 haveled to a deterioration in market
- sentiment and increased volatility

EMERGING MARKET EQUITIES

o

£
A=
a’ ]é :*
.

Valuations are well below long-term averages,
though vary by region and country

Risk of further currency depreciation including
devaluation of Chinese Renminbi

Interrelated headwinds include slowing
Chinese growth, weak commodity prices and
strong US dollar

osition/view last

These charts summarise Mercer’s views on the medium term outlook for returns from the key asset classes; by medium term we mean one to three
years. These views are relevant for reflecting medium term market views in determining appropriate asset allocation. We do not expect investors to make
frequent tactical changes to their asset allocation based upon these views. These are also based from the view of an absolute return investor, and so do

not take into account pension scheme liabilities.

© MERCER 2016

15




Ge abed

FIXED INTEREST GILTS (ALL STOCK)

Ongoing extraordinary monetary policy and
Q concerns over slowing growth continues to
restrain upward yield moves

. Valuations remain stretched by historical
norms

. US monetary policy normalising could hurt
performance of fixed income assets

© MERCER 2016

INDEX-LINKED GILTS

9
9
A

Real yields continue to trade below
long-term averages

Breakeven inflation levels at cyclical
lows due to weak commodity prices

Core inflation expectations continue to
fall amid concerns China may remain a
deflationary force at the global level



NON-GOVERNMENT BONDS (£ ALL-STOCK)

o
Q
Q
®
w
o
© MERCER 2016

While credit spreads have tightened marginally
over the quarter, these remain favourable relative
to current default rates

Yields remain historically low and lack of trading
liquidity has led to risk of increased volatility

General consensus that credit cycle is fairly mature
and prospective returns are relatively limited

UK PROPERTY

9
A

A

Yields remain reasonable relative to
other assets, despite a decrease in Q4

Supply starting to come to market,
leading to less favourable supply-
demand imbalances

Cautious of opportunistic strategies,
and of London market over-heating

17



SECTION 4
FUND VALUATIONS




Target Strategic

Start of Quarter | End of Quarter | Start of Quarter | End of Quarter Difference
Benchmark
e (R (£°000) (£°000) (%) (%) A
Developed Market Equities 1,568,521 1,685,268 43.6 455 40.0 35 - 45 +5.5
Emerging Market Equities 293,957 302,627 8.2 8.2 10.0 5 - 15 -1.8
Diversified Growth Funds 357,914 365,235 9.9 9.9 10.0 5 - 15 -01
F_uUnd of Hedge Funds 157,291 201,841 44 54 5.0 0 - 7.5 +0.4
o)
Fibperty 327,832 343,969 9.1 9.3 10.0 5 - 15 0.7
&
Infrastructure - - - - 5.0 o - 7.5 -5.0
Bonds 761,311 753,425 211 20.3 20.0 15 - 35 +0.3

Cash (including currency 133,923 52,665
instruments)

Source: WM Performance Services, Mercer. Green numbers indicate the allocation is within tolerance ranges, whilst red numbers indicate the allocation is outside of tolerance ranges.

Invested assets increased over the quarter by £104m due to positive returns across major asset classes. At the end of the quarter,
developed market equities were overweight relative to benchmark (and outside the range in the SIP); this will be drawn down to
fund the Infrastructure mandate.

© MERCER 2016 19



ND VALUATION
LUATION

L I S
ON BY MANAGER

FU
VA

Manager Allocation

Manaaer Asset Class Start of Quarter Cashflows End of Quarter | Start of Quarter | End of Quarter
9 (£7000) (£7000) (£7000) (%) (%)
BlackRock Passive Multi-Asset 1,099,762 -3,012 1,133,399 30.5 30.6
Jupiter UK Equities 168,771 - 176,056 4.7 4.8
TT International UK Equities 193,736 - 205,993 54 5.6

1Y) "
Sghroder Global Equities 232,442 - 253,171 6.5 6.8
a
w
Géhesis Emerging Market Equities 132,393 - 136,357 3.7 3.7
Unigestion Emerging Market Equities 161,564 - 166,270 4.5 4.5
Invesco Global ex-UK Equities 260,036 - 284,392 7.2 7.7

Europe ex-UK & Pacific inc.

SSgA Japan Equities 109,756 - 119,872 3.0 3.2
Pyrford DGF 120,916 - 123,750 34 3.3
Standard Life DGF 236,999 - 241,485 6.6 6.5

Source: WM Services, Avon. Totals may not sum due to rounding.

© MERCER 2016 20



ND VALUATION
LUATION

L I S
ON BY MANAGER CONTINUED

FU
VA

Manager Allocation

A

Manager Asset Class Start o,f Quarter Cas,hflows End of Quarter | Start of Quarter | End of Quarter

(£°000) (£°000) (£°000) (%) (%)
MAN Fund of Hedge Funds 593 - 814 0.0 0.0
Signet Fund of Hedge Funds 38,877 -32,957 5,186 1.1 0.1
Gottex Fund of Hedge Funds 58,405 -49,249 9,564 1.6 0.3
JgMorgan Fund of Hedge Funds 59,416 119,391* 186,277 1.7 5.0
Sgnroder UK Property 189,410 - 194,007 53 52
Partners Property 150,487 - 151,610 4.2 4.1
RLAM Bonds 281,004 - 282,045 7.8 7.6
E‘Z‘r’]‘;ge?n‘g;fncy Currency Hedging 3,430 ; 17,595 0.1 05
Internal Cash Cash 102,710 -34,129* 52,377

Source: WM Services, Avon. Totals may not sum due to rounding. *Includes £59.6m in transition from internal cash to JP Morgan as at 30 September 2015, which was counted as cash in the
Q3 2015 report and included in the Internal Cash figure above as at the start of the quarter.

© MERCER 2016 21



SECTION 5
%PERFORMANCE
SUMMARY

© MERCER 2016 22




2 abed

3 Year Risk v 3 Year Return to 31 December 2015

0.0% 5.0% 10.0% 15.0%
20%
This chart shows the 3 year
absolute returns against three
B S A S year volatility (based on
W Property ! ! monthly data in sterling terms),
c | 1 M Overseas Equity to the end of December 2015,
Z : ' for each of the broad underlying
f e e asset benchmarks (using the
E : E‘IK Equity B Infrastructure IndlCeS Set OUt |n the
p: ; m Appendix), along with the total
e N S T Index-linkedGifts 1 _____ s Fund strategic benchmark
= ! Corporate Bonds ! (using the benchmark indices
< ; Global Bonds 5 and allocations from WM
- Hedge Fuhds | Services). We also show the
| | positions as at last quarter, in
L grey.
Emerging Market Equity
= Annual Risk
Comments

* There were limited shifts in observed returns and volatilities over the quarter, the two significant
movements being an increase in returns and volatility for overseas equity (on the back of observed strong
performance), and a drop in observed returns for gilts as yields rose.

© MERCER 2016 23



3 year Risk vs 3 year Return to 30 September 2015

B0 e
I =1 T S .
c + lupiter
= schreroperty Tint 4 i-‘ +* Invesco GE
© oo b & SSgABurope
; ’ 4  SchrGle Equ
§ BR MultiAsst # 5588 Pac
8 RLAM FI
S 8 O #Partners T
a © # Gottex
® 3
N
w E 0.0 # Signet ' ' '
0l0 5.0 100 4 Genecis 15.0 200
_E_G e
Annual Risk (%)
Comments

Annual absolute return (%)

3 year Risk vs 3 year Return to 31 December 2015

2000 T

150 S --m o e 4 InvescoGE

* Jupiter
+
SchrProperty Tint® ¢ SchrGlo Equ
1000 ----------------------g-------- "' S5eA Bu qui-ﬁ-s-g:ﬁ.- IE'E-E- """"
BR MultiAsst
Partners
S 4 #Parttnes
RLAM FI

0.0 T T T 1

o0 5.0 10.0 15.0 200
# Genesis
_E_G g

Annual Risk (%)

* In general absolute returns of the funds increased over the quarter, whilst volatility remained relatively
Stable. This impact was most noticeable in Schroder and Invesco global equity funds as well as SSgA
Pacific inc. Japan equity fund given the significantly positive returns delivered by those equity markets.

© MERCER

2016

24



BlackRock Multi-Asset

Jupiter

TT International
Schroder Equity
Genesis
Unigestion
Invesco

SSgA Europe
SS@ Pacific
Py‘%ord
Sta‘ﬁdard Life
JP Morgan

Schroder Property
Partners Property

RLAM
Internal Cash

Source: WM Services, Avon.

Fund

3.4
4.2
6.3
8.7
3.4
2.9
9.4
6.1
10.9
2.3
1.7
4.1
2.5
3.2
0.4
0.1

3 months (%)

B'mark

3.4
4.0
4.0
8.1
3.5
3.5
8.8
6.2
11.6
1.6
1.4
0.9
2.8
11
0.4
0.1

Relative

0.0
0.2
2.2
0.6
-0.1
-0.5
0.5
-0.1
-0.6
0.7
0.4
3.2
-0.3
2.1
0.0
0.0

2.8
5.4
9.9
6.7
-10.0
-7.5
5.5
6.5
8.5
2.1
N/A
N/A
11.9
5.8
1.0
0.3

1 year (%)

B'mark

2.7
1.0
1.0
3.8
-9.7
-10.0
5.5
5.2
8.5
6.2
N/A
N/A
12.5
12.3
0.5
0.3

Relative

0.1
4.4
8.8
2.8
-0.4
2.7
0.0
1.2
0.0
-3.9
N/A
N/A
-0.5
-5.8
0.5
0.0

Fund

9.6
12.2
12.5
12.9
-2.6
N/A
15.2
10.9
9.3
N/A
N/A
N/A
13.6
5.9
5.8
0.4

3 year (% p.a.)
B'mark

9.5
7.3
7.3
11.8
-3.4
N/A
14.0
10.1
8.3
N/A
N/A
N/A
12.9
11.0
4.4
0.4

Relative

0.1
4.6
4.9
1.0
0.8
N/A
1.0
0.8
1.0
N/A
N/A
N/A
0.6
-4.6
1.4
0.0

3 year
outperformance
target (% p.a.)

+2
+3-4
+4

+2-4
+0.5
+0.5
+0.5

+1
+2
+0.8

CE TO 31 DECEMBER 2015

3 year performance

versus target

Target met
Target met
Target met
Target not met
Target met
N/A
Target met
Target met
Target met
N/A
N/A
N/A
Target not met
Target not met
Target met
N/A

In the relative performance columns, returns in blue text exceeded their respective benchmarks, those in red underperformed, and black text shows performance in line with benchmark.
In the table above, and throughout this report, relative returns have been calculated geometrically (i.e. the portfolio return is divided by the benchmark return) rather than arithmetically (where

the benchmark return is subtracted from the portfolio return).

A summary of the benchmarks for each of the mandates is given in Appendix 1.

© MERCER 2016

25



SECTION 6
MANAGER
PERFORMANCE

© MERCER 2016 26




i BLACKROCK — PASSIVE MULTI-ASSET (POOLED EQUITIES, SEGREGATED BONDS)
£1,133.4M END VALUE (£1,099.8M START VALUE)

. A (no change over period under review).
ESGp2 for equities

Mercer Rating

86 55 95

Performance Objective . Outperformed benchmark by 0.1% p.a. over
In line with the benchmark three years

Manager Research and Developments Manager
* Returns have been in line with the benchmark over the quarter, which is expected B Benchmark
for a passive mandate with a benchmark based on monthly mean fund weights. W Target

» Current holdings in UK and overseas government bonds are approximately £471m,
or 12.7% of the total Fund — this is in the process of being consolidated in index-
linked gilts.

* BlackRock has informed us that they have entered into an agreement with Bank of
UAmerica’s asset management business, to transfer the investment management
@responsibilities for approximately $87bn of money market assets to BlackRock. The (%) (%]
_btransaction is expected to close in the first half of 2016 subject to regulatory and
ovther approvals. This transaction would grow BlackRock’s global cash management Asset Allocation

platform to over $370bn. Following a call with BlackRock, we are comfortable that
the agreement will not affect the investment process or capacity within money
market strategies. -

* Panel last met with BlackRock at the “meet the manager” workshop session on 9
November 2015.

Quarter 1 year 3 years (% p.al)

100%

0%

Reason for investment

To provide asset growth as part of diversified portfolio

20%

10%

Reason for manager

L] To prov'de IOW Cost market eXpoSure aCroSS mu|t| asset CIaSSeS Q4 2012 Q12013 Q22013 Q32013 Q4 2013 Q12014 Q2 2014 Q3 2014 Q4 2014 Q12015 Q22015 Q3 2015 Q4 2015
* Provide efficient way for rebalancing between bonds and equities within a single = Cash = Global Bonds = Corporate Bonds
rtf | ™ Index Linked Gilts ™ Fixed Interest Gilts w Pacific Basin (ex Japan) Equities
po olio @ Japan Equities W Europe (ex UK) Equities North America Equities
¥ International Equities W UK Equities

© MERCER 2016 27



4 JUPITER ASSET MANAGEMENT - UK EQUITIES (SRI) (SEGREGATED)
£176.1M END VALUE (£168.8M START VALUE)

Mercer Rating . B (no change over period under review) 122
Performance Objective . Outperformed benchmark by 4.6% p.a. over
Benchmark +2% p.a. three years
Tracking error was 3.6% p.a. Number of stocks: 58 (new holding in Royal Mail added Manager
(Q3: 3.5%) — source: Jupiter over the quarter)

M Benchmark
Manager Research and Developments

B Target

* The fund achieved its target over the year and three year periods.
* The outperformance over the quarter was largely due to strong stock-specific
performance and, at a sector level, the natural underweight position in the Mining
}ector, which lagged the index as a whole by 17% as commodity prices continued to Quarter 1vyear 3 years (% p.a.)
«fall (0% holding versus a benchmark of 3.2%). (%) (%]
. c&]upiter has informed us that Chris Watt, UK Equities (SRI) portfolio manager, will be
~leaving the firm to take an opportunity with another fund management firm. The fund i .
will be managed by the Environmental & Sustainability team headed by Charlie Rolling relative returns
Thomas, the portfolio manager for the Fund’s segregated mandate. Thomas seems Quarterly Excess Return vs. FTSE All Share with rolling 1 yr line in GBP (after fees) over 3 yrs ending December-15
a natural choice, but we are concerned that the additional responsibilities could be a e
stretch on his time. It also brings into question if Jupiter’'s Environmental &
Sustainability team will be sufficiently resourced. Our rating of ‘B’ has not changed as
a result, but we suggest the strategy is monitored.

8.0

2.0

6.0

Reason for investment

4.0

Ex Ret (%)
o
|

(%) 32 x3 Buyjoy

To provide asset growth as part of diversified equity portfolio

2.0

N

* Dedicated team of SRI analysts to research SRI issues and lead engagement and o
voting activities

Reason for manager

e
o

« Clear and robust approach to evaluating SRI factors within the investment process

-4.0

* Corporate commitment to SRI investment approach within a more mainstream e e PR —r T T T = e

InVGStment team W Jupiter E Quarterly Excess Return {Up Markets) n Quarterly Excess Return (Down Markets) | Rolling 1 yr

© MERCER 2016 28



TT INTERNATIONAL - UK EQUITIES (UNCONSTRAINED) (SEGREGATED)
£206.0M END VALUE (£193.7M START VALUE)

Mercer Rating . B (no change over period under review). ESG3 125
Performance Objective . Outperformed benchmark by 4.9% p.a. over gg 10.3
Benchmark +3-4% p.a. three years

Three year tracking error was

: M
4.1% p.a. — source: Mercer Number of stocks: 51 anager
B Benchmark
Manager Research and Developments
W Target

« TT significantly outperformed their benchmark by 2.2% over the quarter, and 8.8%
over the year to 31 December 2015.
» This outperformance over the quarter was largely due to strong stock selection in
uthe Consumer, Industrials and Financials sectors (adding 3.2% to returns in total). Quarter 1vyear 3 years (% p.a)
*& In terms of sector positioning, the fund lost out from being underweight Basic (%) (%)
@ Materials and also from the cash holding (at 7.3% at the start of the quarter and

31 .0% by the end) in a time of rising markets. i .

« Turnover decreased from 25.2% in Q3 to 23.7% in Q4 2015 while the three year Rolling relative returns
tracking error (a proxy for risk relative to benchmark) rose from 4.0% to 4.1%. Quarterly Excess Return vs. FTSE All Share with rolling 1 yr line in GBP (after fees) over 3 yrs ending December-15

* Three-year information ratios have remained stable over the quarter.

* Assets under managementin TT’s UK equity strategies increased over the quarter 3.0
to c. £526m in light of positive returns.; this consists of the assets of TT’s pooled
fund, and three segregated accounts (one of which being the Fund’s holdings). This
compares to £495m in September 2015, £477m in December 2014 and £543m in
December 2012). A significant portion (c.40%) of the firm’s UK equity assets are

2.0

N
N

|

J

1
m

managed on behalf of the Fund. = s g
£ i
- .‘E 0.0 g‘
Reason for investment 3 2 H
2
To provide asset growth as part of diversified equity portfolio -1e =
Reason for manager
» Favoured the partnership structure that aligns manager’s and Fund'’s interests .

* Focussed investment activity and manages its capacity

» Clear, robust stock selection and portfolio construction = i s AR s g i I e s i

© TTiInt [l Quarterly Excess Return (Up Markets) Bl Quarterly Excess Return (Dovn Markats) | Rolling 1 yr

© MERCER 2016 29



& SCHRODER - GLOBAL EQUITY PORTFOLIO (SEGREGATED)
£253.2M END VALUE (£232.4M START VALUE)

Mercer Rating . B+ (no change over period under review). ESG2 15.8

Performance Objective . Outperformed benchmark by 1.0% p.a. over

Benchmark +4% p.a. three years, but lagged target

Three year tracking error was 2.1% p.a. — source: Mercer Manager
Manager Research and Developments ® Benchmark
» The fund outperformed the benchmark over the quarter, largely through stock B Target

selection in consumer discretionary and industrials. Being overweight information
technology also helped as the sector outperformed the wider market.
* Looking on a region by region basis, the fund gained the most from holdings in
“UNorth America, Japan and the emerging markets. Stock selection in Europe Quarter 1vyear 3 years (% p.a)
@ weighed on returns, as did the overweight exposure to the UK (14.3% versus 6.7% (%) (%)
Pin the index, with the UK underperforming wider UK equities over the period.
S . .
» ©The largest contributor over the quarter was Amazon where shares gained on the ) i
back of impressive earnings results, which showed strong growth across all Rolllng relative returns
segments_ Quarterly Excess Return vs. MSCI AC World with rolling 1 yr line in GBP (after fees) over 3 yrs ending December-15

* Mercer's manager researchers met with Alex Tedder, the portfolio manager for the e
strategy, in November and confirmed the existing B+ rating. e

4.0

14 3.0

1.2

1.0
2.0

0.8

Reason for investment .
g 0.2 E
To provide asset growth as part of diversified equity portfolio E 0.0 0.0 g
0.2 3
Reason for manager
» Clear philosophy and approach -0 -
* Long term philosophy aligned with Fund’s goals, commitment to incorporating ESG :
principles throughout the investment process T
« Evidence of ability to achieve the Fund’s performance target 18
3/13 6/13 9/13 12/13 3/14 &/14 9/14 12/14 3/15 &/15 9/15 12/15
P Schr Glo Equ [j Quarterly Excess Return (Up Markets) . Quarterly Excess Return (Down Markets) | Rolling 1 yr

© MERCER 2016 30



GENESIS ASSET MANAGERS - EMERGING MARKET EQUITIES (pooLED)
£136.4M END VALUE (£132.4M START VALUE)

Mercer Rating . A (no change over period under review). ESG3 a4 35 35
Performance Objective . Outperformed benchmark by 0.8% p.a. over
Benchmark three years
Three year tracking error was Manager
3.4% p.a. (Q3: 3.5%) — source: Number of stocks: 159
Genesis B Benchmark
Manager Research and Developments W Target
* The fund slightly underperformed its benchmark over the quarter. Relative to the 00 -8.7 87
index, underperformance in India, South Africa and Nigeria holdings and the
-gunderweight position in the strong Indonesian market cost the portfolio. This was Quarter 1 year 3 years (% p.a.)
g partly offset by stock selection in a number of Asian markets as some Chinese (%) ]

@ holdings made large gains.

. gThe biggest contributor was SABMiller whilst the biggest detractor was Anglo ) i
American (both from South Africa). Turnover over the quarter was 17%. Rolling relative returns

» The portfolio one-year returns are 0.3% below benchmark, while three year returns Quarterly Excess Return vs. MSCI EM with rolling 1 yr line in GBP (after fees) over 3 yrs ending December-15
are 0.8% ahead.

* Investment manager Evgeny Kuznetsov has left Genesis after 18 years in the team
in order to pursue other business interests. The decision to leave was amicable and
Genesis has no plans to make a direct hire to replace Kuznetsov, although they

maintain an ‘open door policy’. We do not propose any change to the rating, yet if
we were to see other departures in the immediate future this would raise concern.

2.0

4.0

2.0

Reason for investment

0.0

Ex Ret (%)
e
°

(%) 13 x3 Buyioy

To provide asset growth as part of diversified equity portfolio

Reason for manager
* Long term investment approach which takes advantage of evolving growth
opportunities 4.0
» Niche and focussed expertise in emerging markets -
« Partnership structure aligned to delivering performance rather than growing assets N e e e e e T
under management B Genesis Il Quarterly Excess Return (Up Markats) Bl Quarterly Excess Return (Down Markets) | Reliing 1 yr

© MERCER 2016 31



UNIGESTION — EMERGING MARKET EQUITIES (POOLED - SUB-FUND)
£166.3M END VALUE (£161.6M START VALUE)

Item Monitored Outcome Performance

Mercer Rating . R (no change over period under review) 35 4.0

Performance Objective . Outperformed benchmark by 2.7% over the
Benchmark +2-4% p.a. year

Tracking error smce': |nc'ept|o'n was Number of stocks: 88 Manager
7.2% p.a. — source: Unigestion
B Benchmark
Manager Research and Developments
B Target
* The Fund has underperformed by 0.5% over the quarter but outperformed by 2.7%
over the year to 31 December 2015. -10.0
* This underperformance over the quarter largely occurred in October, where the
“Ufund returned 3.9% against a benchmark return of 5.1%. This largely came from the Quarter 1vyear
@ asset allocation, with an overweight to Telecommunication and Food as well as an (25) (%)
@ underweight to Technology detracting from performance. Geographical allocation
Freduced the fund performance, especially in South Korea and India. i .
+  Volatility since inception is 15.2%, lower than the index (at 17.5%) and consistent Rolling relative returns
with their objectives (and the strategy’s bias towards quality and large- or mega-cap Quarterly Excess Return vs. MSCI EM with rolling 1 yr line in GBP (before fees) over 3 yrs ending December-15
stocks). 50 -
* Panel last met with Unigestion at the “meet the manager” workshop session on
9 November 2015.
Reason for investment g %
z 0.0 @ 0.0 %

To provide asset growth as part of diversified equity portfolio

-2.0

Reason for manager

* Risk-based active management approach
* Aim for lower volatility than the MSCI Emerging Markets Index o

+ Combine fundamental and quantitative analysis
3/13 6/13 9/13 12/13 3/14 6/14 a/14 12/14 3/15 6/15 9/15 12/15

@ Unigestion Il Quarterly Excess Return (Up Markets) B Quarterly Excess Return (Down Markets) | Rolling 1 yr

© MERCER 2016 Note: Chart is pooled fund performance, gross of fees 32



h INVESCO - GLOBAL EX-UK EQUITIES (ENHANCED INDEXATION) (PooLED)
£284.4M END VALUE (£260.0M START VALUE)

Mercer Rating . B+ (no change over period under review). ESG4 15.2

Performance Objective . Outperformed benchmark by 1.0% p.a. over
Benchmark +0.5% p.a. three years

Tracking error since inception was

1.5% p.a. — source: Invesco Number of stocks: 432 (up from 422) Manager
m Benchmark
Manager Research and Developments
W Target

* The fund outperformed its benchmark by 0.5% over the last quarter and is above its
outperformance target over 3 years (source: WM). Beta remains near to one, as

expected.
» gAll sector and country allocations were within +/- 1.2% of benchmark weightings, in Quarter 1year 3years (% p.a.)
2 line with general expectations for an enhanced indexation product.
Q (%) (%)

D

o1
™ Rolling relative returns

Quarterly Excess Return vs. MSCI World ex UK NDR with rolling 1 yr line in GBP (after fees) over 3 yrs ending December-15
3.0
1.0

0.8

0.6

I
‘ 2.0

Ex Ret (%)

Reason for investment

) 1\ 1.0
To provide asset growth as part of diversified equity portfolio o~ : i .
Reason for manager ‘ . — ‘ = | . I

* Robust investment process supported by historical performance record, providing
a high level of assurance that the process could generate the outperformance
target on a consistent basis .

* One of few to offer a Global ex UK pooled fund

0.4

(%) 393 >3 Buyey

-0.2

1.0

3/13 6/13 9/13 12/13 3/14 6/14 9/14 12/14 3/15 6/15 9/15 12/15

@ Invesco GE [l Quarterly Excess Return (Up Markets) Bl Quarterly Excess Return (Dovm Markets) | Rolling 1 yr

© MERCER 2016 33



SSGA - EUROPE EX-UK EQUITIES (ENHANCED INDEXATION) (PooLED)
£42.6M END VALUE (£40.1M START VALUE)

Mercer Rating R (no change over period under review) 109

‘ 10.1 10.6
Performance Objective . Outperformed benchmark by 0.8% p.a. over
Benchmark +0.5% p.a. three years

Three year tracking error was

: M
0.9% p.a. — source: Mercer A bl anager
B Benchmark
Manager Research and Developments
W Target

» The Fund outperformed its performance target over the three year period.
* The total pooled fund size on 31 December 2015 was £42.6m. This means that the
Fund is practically the only investor, although the Panel has previously concluded
“Uthat the Fund could be sustained even if the Avon Pension Fund was the only Quarter 1 year 3 years (% p.a.)
Qinvestor. (25) (%)
« ® The fund holds 210 out of 387 stocks in the index, around 54%, within the expected
Ul .
wrange of 35-65%. Beta over three years is as expected at around 1. ) i
+ SSgA has informed us that President Greg Ehret is leaving the firm to pursue other Rolling relative returns
opportunities. Effective immediately, CEO Ronald O’Hanley has assumed the title Quarterly Excess Return vs. Europe ex UK (WM) with rolling 1 yr line in GBP (after fees) over 3 yrs ending December-15
of President, which carries the responsibilities of leading all non-investment related
groups at SSgA. There are no immediate plans to replace Ehret, who became
President in June 2015 (replacing O’Hanley who acted as CEO and President at
the time). Ehret had strictly non-investment responsibilities, and as such we do not
believe his departure will materially impact SSgA’s investment strategies. We are
not recommending any rating changes as a result of this news.

28

2.6

1.0 2.4
2.2

2.0
0.8

1.8

1.6

0.6
1.4

1.2

Ex Ret (%)

Reason for investment

0.4 1.0

0.8

To provide asset growth as part of diversified equity portfolio

() 324 >3 Buyey

0.6
0.2

0.4

Reason for manager

0.2

0.0

0.0

« Strength of their quantitative model and process, and ongoing research to develop
the model

-0.2

-0.4
-0.2

-0.6

* Historic performance met the risk return parameters the Fund was seeking

-0.8

» Two Funds (European and Pacific) to achieve the Fund’s customised asset R T e

3/14 6/14 8/14 12/14 3/15 6/15 9/15 12/15

allocation within overseas equities 4 sSgAturope  [l] Quarterly Excess Return (Up Markets)  [] Quarterly Excess Return (Down Markats) | Relling 1 yr

© MERCER 2016 34



SSGA - PACIFIC INC. JAPAN EQUITIES (ENHANCED INDEXATION) (PooLED)
£77.3M END VALUE (£69.8M START VALUE)

Mercer Rating . N (no change over period under review)

11.6 11.7
Performance Objective . Outperformed benchmark by 1.0% p.a. over "
Benchmark +0.5% p.a. three years

Three year tracking error was

1.0% p.a. — source: Mercer Number of stocks: 404 Manager
m Benchmark
Manager Research and Developments
M Target
* The Fund outperformed its performance target over 3 years, but lagged in Q3. The
maijority of underperformance came from stock selection in October and November.
Growth factors were slightly negative in both months indicating that stocks with -
-ustrong growth prospects were not favoured by the market. Quality factors also Quarter 1year 3years (% p.a.)
Sfailed to add value as investors showed little preference for safe stocks. In October (%) (%)
@ the weakest performance came from sentiment factors due to unsuccessful
gmomentum-based stock selection techniques, whilst in November it came from ) i
value factors as attractively-valued stocks underperformed. Rolling relative returns
. The total pooled fund Size on 31 Decem ber 201 5 was £774m AS W|th the Quarterly Excess Return vs. Asia Pacific (WM) with rolling 1 yr line in GBP (after fees) over 3 yrs ending December-15
European fund, the conclusion has been that the Fund could be sustained even i - &
with the Avon Pension Fund as the only investor. 7@\
* As with the European fund, Beta is around 1 (i.e. broadly in line with a market cap o
approach). e -
* SSgA has informed us that President Greg Ehret is leaving the firm. See page 34
for detail. s e
Reason for investment ™
3 Iy
To provide asset growth as part of diversified equity portfolio 500 . l . 3
Reason for manager L]
« Strength of their quantitative model and process, and ongoing research to develop _
the model - .
* Historic performance met the risk return parameters the Fund was seeking e
» Two Funds (European and Pacific) to achieve the Fund’s customised asset — iy s W il Wi I W m TR
a”ocatlon Wlthln overseas equltles A 35594 Pac Quarterly Excess Return (Up Markets) Quarterly Excess Return (Dovmn Markets) | Rolling 1 yr

© MERCER 2016 35



PYRFORD - DGF (PooLED)
£123.8M END VALUE (£7120.9M START VALUE)

ltem Monitored Outcome Performance

Mercer Rating . R (no change over period under review)

Performance Objective Underperformed benchmark by 3.9% p.a. over

RPI +5% p.a. one year Manager

23

Manager Research and Developments 16 16 21 ® Benchmark

+ The fund has outperformed the benchmark over the quarter by 0.7% but ’—- B Target
substantially underperformed over the year by 3.9%. T

« The target asset allocation of the fund remained unchanged over the quarter at Quarter
30% equities, 67% bonds and 3% cash, with a marginal fall in actual cash held (%)

* Performance in Q4 was above benchmark, with a return of 2.3%, largely due to the
equity holdings, with UK stock selection continuing to be a key driver of
o performance.
-% Pyrford continues to adopt a defensive stance by owning short duration securities
onin order to protect the capital value of the portfolio from expected rises in yields. At

Asset Allocation

Ylthe end of the quarter the modified duration of the fixed income portfolio fell to 1.5 Pyrford - Diversified Growth Pooled Fund

years. 100% T I e 777
* Panel last met with Pyrford at the “meet the manager” workshop session on 9 90% /V 7 7 %7/ ? % % %
November 2015. 80% 1 / é

N\
N\
N

40%
: N

7//\
777\
)N
7/)N\
7/
/7
AN

! 30% A
Reason for investment 20%

10% 1

To provide equity like return over the long term but with a lower level of volatility

0%

X e e e e 3 3 3 3 2 e e
» Asset allocation skill between equities, bonds and cash
* Fundamental approach to stock selection mCash Overseas Bonds UK Bonds
OOverseas Equities @ UK Equities
Annual data prior to Q1 2015.
36

© MERCER 2016



Q STANDARD LIFE — DGF (pooLD)
£241.5M END VALUE (£237.0M START VALUE)

Performance characteristics vs. 6 Month Sterling LIBOR (after fees) over 3 years ending December-15
. Comparison with the International Multi-Asset GBP (Net) universe (Actual Ranking) (quarterly calculations)

B+ (no change over period under review). ESG4

Mercer Rating

10.0 10.0 15 100 15

. Outperformed benchmark by 0.4% p.a. over the

Performance Objective quarter ’

Cash +5% pa 6.0 6.0 6.0

‘ Underperformed benchmark since inception by KB -
3.8% (1.1% vs 5.1% gross of fees) a0 w0 . .

Manager Research and Developments w0
* Over the quarter the Fund returned 1.7% against a benchmark of 1.4%. o0 oo
«  The charts to the right (and overleaf) provide analysis of the performance of the medma e e S ™ e e B
pooled fund (net of fees) over the three years to 31 December 2015, illustrating 3?;:33:;::: e o5 - o5 o
;?that while returns have been broadly in line with the median DGF manager, the risk Median 4.9 5.9 0.7 5.9 0.7
Qtaken to produce these returns has been significantly lower and as the result risk coner Quartle oo o oe o oe
(nadjusted returns are above the 95 percentile. Number of Funds 22 22 22 22 22

» ®The largest contributes to performance over the quarter were their US equity
technology versus small cap strategy (which made gains as large-cap technology

Asset Allocation/Risk Exposure

stocks outperformed small caps during the broad equity market rally early in the 100%

quarter) and their holdings in Japanese and European equities (which responded 90%
positively to the prospect of continued low borrowing costs).

+ At the end of the quarter, the positive view of European equities was the strategy’s
largest market return position, closely followed by the bias towards US technology 70%
companies over small cap stocks, and their directional view to be short US rates 60%
on the expectation of monetary tightening.

80%

50%

40%

Reason for investment

30%

To provide equity like return over the long term but with a lower level of volatility 20%

10%

Reason for manager
0%
» Diversification from equities

Q113
Q213
Q313
Q413
Q114
Q214
Q314
Q414
Q115
Q215
Q35
Q415

« Exposure to relative value strategies and different approach to Pyrford’s largely
static asset allocation investment strategy mEquities DOCredit ®FX ®Duration @Volatility ®Inflaton ©OStock Selection mReal Estate

© MERCER 2016 37



DGF MANDATES

Performance characteristics vs. BofAML LIBOR 6 month average UK in GBP
(after fees) over 1 yr ending December-15 Commentary
Comparison vith the International Multi-Asset GBP (Net) universe (Actual
Ranking) (quarterly calculations) * Overthe year to 31 December 2015, the Standard Life
6.0 14.0 0.8 GARS pooled fund outperformed Pyrford by 0.7% (however
the Fund has only been invested since February 2015).

— 0.6  This placed both Standard Life and Pyrford above the
12.0 median manager of the DGF universe for performance
4.0 (with Standard Life in the top quartile). It should be noted
0.4 that this universe is very diverse in styles.

3.0 v 10.0 & * However this was achieved whilst taking different levels of
0.2 risk, with Standard Life’s volatility standing at 5.9% against
%p A Pyrford’s 5.0%.

8.0 0.0 « Both managers were in the lower quartile for risk, meaning
1.0 they took less risk than most managers in the universe.

-0.2

/G abed

* As aresult, information ratios (a measure of risk adjusted
returns) for both Pyrford and Standard Life were in the
A —_— upper quartile of the universe.

0.0 6.0 v

-1.0
* Note that this is a short time-frame over which to measure

risk, and reflects the limited period the Fund has been
invested for. More telling analysis will emerge as the track
record grows.

4.0

-2.0 -0.6

-3.0 2.0 -0.8

ik (W i Do () 7t » The information ratio (IR) measures the amount of

‘information’ that the manager can extract from the market.
A Pyrford DGF 21(09) i i Expressed in another way this is the amount of excess

¥ 5L GARS o 52000 Lad il return generated per unit of risk or tracking error added.
95th Percentile 5.6 13.3 o The IR is therefore a measure of the skill of the manager. If
Upper Quartile A 2 9 the IR is large and it is measured over a reasonable period
Median 1.4 ied 00 of time, then this is an indication that the manager has
Lower Quartile D4 i "k some skill in managing money. Mercer defines the IR as
Sth Percentile “2.4 2.8 ~0.8 the annualised excess return divided by the annualised
Number 43 43 o tracking error.

© MERCER 2016



Item Monitored

Outcome

Mercer Rating

. B+ (no change over period under review)

Performance Objective
Cash +3% p.a.

. Outperformed benchmark by 3.2% p.a. over
the quarter

Number of funds

Strategy

30
Contribution to Performance over the

Quarter in USD (%)

Relative Value 0.63
(&z’portunistic/Macro 0.26
Lég/Short Equities 0.54
E/Ire}\:gre]r Arbitrage/Event 0.06
Credit 0.05
Total 1.36 (including cash and fees)

JP MORGAN - FUND OF HEDGE FUNDS
£186.3M END VALUE (£59.4M START VALUE)

Performance (GBP, from WM Services)

Last Quarter 4.1%

Benchmark 0.9%

Portfolio Composition and Equity Sector Allocation

Reason for investment

To reduce volatility of the Growth portfolio and increase diversification

Reason for manager

* Niche market neutral investment strategy
+ Established team with strong track record
+ Complemented other funds in the portfolio

Source: JP Morgan.
As at 31 December 2015.
© MERCER 2016 39



HEDGE FUND COMMENTARY - Q4 2015

» Hedge funds produced relatively flat results for the
fourth quarter of 2015. The HFRI index returned 0.5%,
the HFRX index returned -0.6% and the Dow Jones
Credit Suisse Hedge Fund Index declined 0.1% (USD
returns).

» The fourth quarter marked a volatile end to an overall
unstable year for assets broadly. A variety of macro
concerns (broad economic growth, global monetary
policy, Greece, China, commodities, market liquidity,
etc.) drove wild swings across many asset classes.

-
. L$§The hedge fund industry ended the year at roughly $2.9
drillion in assets. Performance-based gains aided
growth for the year, though assets still remain below
peak levels reached in Q2.

« While investors were net buyers of hedge funds for
2015 as a whole, Q4 saw the first net quarterly outflow
since the fourth quarter of 2011, as investors redeemed
$1.5 billion.

Returns are in USD. Source: Source: Credit Suisse Hedge Index LLC.

© MERCER 2016 40



HEDGE FUND COMMENTARY - 2015

09 abed

Relative Value (30%)

*Fixed income and convertible arbitrage strategies earned a
modest 0.6% and 0.8%, respectively, during the year.

*While volatility across and within markets created trading
opportunities for many relative value managers in 2015 (fixed
income included), we note rather wide dispersion in sub-
strategy performance, as instability in yield and spread
trading hurt many portfolios.

*Convertible arbitrage generated gains, amidst a reasonable
level of new issues and increased volatility

Long/Short Equities (24%)

*Long/short equity gained 3.6% in 2015

A poor Q3 offset what was otherwise a reasonable year for
many long/short equity managers, outweighing the year’s
favorable dispersion characteristics. Specifically, 2015
withnessed an improved environment for shorting. Manager
dispersion was significant, however, and we note that other
long/short equity indices, such as the HFRI Equity Hedge
Index, posted slightly negative results for the year. Many
managers struggled on the long side in 2015, particularly as
crowded long positions and energy-related exposures
suffered.

Opportunistic / Macro (19%)

*The broad global macro universe earned 0.2% over the year,
while managed futures declined 0.9%. However, we once
again note a fairly wide dispersion of strategy and manager
performance.

«Systematic strategies generally fared worse, despite a strong
start to 2015, as strategies were largely unable to navigate
choppiness in rate, currency and commodity markets.

*Discretionary strategies held up better, with USD, rate and
short commodity positioning benefitting many portfolios.

© MERCER 2016

Merger Arbitrage / Event Driven (8%)

*The multi-strategy / event space posted losses broadly
during the quarter and struggled for the year.

*Merger arbitrage strategies held up best in 2015. Global
M&A activity was robust, with a record-setting $5.7 trillion in
announced deals during the year. This surge in volume,
accompanied by attractive spreads and a number of deal
closings (mitigating spread widening) benefitted the strategy.

*Softer catalyst situations and distressed assets really
struggled, as a lack of progress in many deals, accompanied
by broad credit sensitivity (particularly lower rated issues)
and market illiquidity punished many portfolios. Energy-
related exposure detracted meaningfully.

Returns are in USD. Source: Source: Credit Suisse Hedge Index LLC.




Q SCHRODER - UK PROPERTY FUND OF FUNDS
£194.0M END VALUE (£189.4M START VALUE)

Mercer Rating . B (no change over period under review). ESG3
Performance Objective . Outperformed benchmark by 0.6% p.a. over
Benchmark +1% p.a. three years

Manager
Manager Research and Developments

B Benchmark
* The fund underperformed the benchmark over the quarter by 0.3%, as core fund

holdings and cash detracted from performance. W Target
« Over the three year period, the fund has outperformed its benchmark by 0.6% p.a.,
largely due to strong performance from Value Add strategies (i.e. alternative or less
mainstream assets with low industrial and central London exposure). Quarter 1 year 3 years (% p.a.)
» There was a significant volume of purchases over the quarter, with c. £11.7m (%) (%)
_Uinvested in total — including in Threadneedle Property Unit Trust (c. £3.8m),
o Industrial Property Investment Fund (c. £3.6m), Metro Property Unit Trust (c. Top 5 Contributing and Detracting Funds over 12 Months
%£3.1m), Multi-Let Industrial Property Unit Trust (c. £0.9m) and the Regional Office o
|gProperty Unit Trust (c. £0.3m). As at 31 December 2015

Manager and Investment type splits

] Proportion of
Top 5 Holdings Total Fund (%

Split by Investment Type (£€m)

Cash
0.9%

L&G Managed

-0.6%
Property FU nd 1 30 West End of industrial  Hermes Property Schroder Real Metro Property Columbus UK BlackRock UK Standard Life  Henderson UK Cash
London Property Property Unit Trust Estate Real Unit Trust Real Estate Unit PropertyFund Pooled Pension Retail
Unit Trust Investment Fund Income Fund A Trust Property Fund Warehouse Fund
BlackRock UK 12.9 Units

Property Fund

Reason for investment

To reduce volatility of the Growth portfolio and increase diversification

Industrial Property

Investment Fund 1.4

Standard Life
Pooled Pension 9.9
Property Fund

Reason for manager

Demonstrable track record of delivering consistent above average performance

Aviva Investors
Pensions

* Team though small is exclusively dedicated to UK multi-manager property
management but can draw on extensive resources of Schroder’s direct property team

As at 31 December 2015 * Well structured and research orientated investment process
© MERCER 2016 42



PARTNERS - OVERSEAS PROPERTY
£151.6M END VALUE (£150.5M START VALUE)

Item Monitored Outcome Portfolio update as at 30 September 2015

) ) ) Total Drawn Total Net Asset Since
Mercer Rating . B+ (no change over period under review). ESG4 Partners Fund Down Distributions Value Inception
Perf Ob Und rf d benchmark by 4.6% Em) Em) Em) Net RR
erformance Objective nderperformed benchmark by 4.6% p.a. over

Benchmark +2% p.a. ® .. years to 31 December 2015 S(')%Za' Real Estate 31.66 16.88 2153 7.9
Manager Research and Developments 2Roegsla Estate Secondary 19.01 4.84 19.78 12.9
*  Over Q4 2015, the fund outperformed the benchmark by 2.1%, but Asia Pacific and

underperformed by 4.6% p.a. over the three year period. Emerging Market Real 15.75 6.47 12.79 5.2
* Partners’ drawdowns are made gradually over time, and the Fund is not Estate 2009

yet fully invested. As a result of the volatile timing of cash flows for such Distressed US Real

investments, for example the initial costs of purchasing and developing Estate 2009 14.75 13.43 7.69 9.5

properties, focus should be on longer term performance. Their IRR from Global Real Estate

ingeption to 30 September 2015 at 8.8% p.a. is below their target of 10% 2011 24.69 6.98 22.53 11.7
+ OPer Q3, the allocation to Europe remained at 50%, while North America Direct Real Estate 2011 10.79 3.69 10.70 9.0

irﬂeased (from 17% to 19%) and Asia Pacific fell slightly (from 27% to 25%).

These remain within the guidelines. Real Estate Secondary 3.90 0.21 505 283
» Exposure to Secondary opportunities rose during the third quarter (from 40% 2013 ' ' ’ )

to 44%), with Direct falling (from 34% to 30%) and Primary remaining at 26%. Global Real Estate

Primary exposure continues to be below the guidelines. Short-term deviation 2013 34.78 0.00 33.16 2.0

from the guidelines is expected whilst the amount drawn-down is below target. Real Estate Income
* Note that Partners are rated B+ for global real estate, but A for secondary 13.26 12.80

global real estate (as a result of their private equity skill set). 2014

Geographical and Investment type splits as at 30 September 2015 168.59 22:16 m-

Geographical SplitBased on NetAsset Value  Investment Type Split Based on Net Asset Value .
Reason for investment

6%

To reduce volatility of the Growth portfolio and increase diversification

Reason for manager

» Depth of experience in global property investment and the resources they committed
globally to the asset class

: » The preferred structure for the portfolio was via a bespoke fund of funds (or private
0 Earmmn S20 T ® North America (10% - 50%)  mpwent (0% - 30%) B Primary (40% - 100%) account) so the investment could be more tailored to the Fund’s requirements
= Asia Pacific (10% - 50%) Rest of World (0% - 20%) = Secondary (0% - 505¢)

© MERCER 2016 43



ROYAL LONDON ASSET MANAGEMENT - FIXED INTEREST (pooLED)
£282.0M END VALUE (£281.0M START VALUE)

Mercer Rating . A (no change over period under review). ESG3

58
Performance Objective . Outperformed benchmark by 1.4% p.a. over 5.2
Benchmark +0.8% p.a. three years

Manager Research and Developments

Manager
¢ Our researchers met with Royal London in October 2015 and reconfirmed the B Benchmark
existing A rating, noting their clear philosophy, focussing on under-researched
areas such as secured bonds, remains a competitive advantage in UK credit B Target

markets.
* Panel last met with RLAM at the “meet the manager” workshop session on 9
November 2015.

Quarter 1 year 3 years (% p.al)
Credit Rating Allocation (%) (%)

50,

o
a0-0% Risk and Return relative to benchmark
S5.0%
I0.0% Performance characteristics vs. Markit iBoxx Non Gilts Overall in GBP over 3 yrs ending December-15
=5 0% m Fund Comparison with the UK Fixed Income (Govt & Non-Govt) universe {(Actual Ranking) (quarterly calculations)
66 10.0 1.3 &0 2.0
zo.0%: = Benchmark 6.4 18 A
1s.0% 6.2 &
10.0% 12 1.6
6.0 2.0 5.0
S.0%5 — 1.4
o.0%s 5.8 A
Y-S A A BBE BB or less Unrated =€ k3 1.2
5.4 8.0 4.0 i
Weighted Duration Start of Quarter End of Quarter =
a8 7.0 2.0 0.6
Fund 7.5 7.5
4.4
0.2
Benchmark 7.7 7.7 pd o e
4.0 o8 0.0

3.8 -0.2

Reason for investment ,

3.4

>
o
| 3
o
Y

3.2

To maintain stability in the Fund as part of a diversified fixed income portfolio

3.0 4.0 0.0 -0.8

Ret (%%bpa) Std Dev (%pa) Ret/SD TE (%opa) IR
A 8. = = .8 (24, -B(.
Reason for manager $5th Parcani s s i e “
Upper Quartile 5.0 6.1 0.9 2.9 0.4
Median 4.5 5.3 0.8 1.5 0.1
» Focussed research strategy to generate added value e LapuiR AL i b <. o
ercentile 53 5.0 0.6 1.0 -0.8
. “w . ” o . . . . Number 24 24 24 24 24
* Focus on unrated bonds provided a “niche” where price inefficiencies are more 44

prevalent. Product size means can be flexible within market



RECORD - CURRENCY HEDGING (SEGREGATED)
-£17.6M END VALUE (£3.4M START VALUE)

Currency Hedging Q4 2015 Performance (£ terms)

Item Monitored Outcome

Dynamic Hedge* - terminated on 30 October 2015

Mercer Rating ‘ N (no change over period under review) 50% Record
Start End Currency H ° Net
edge Hedge
o . Currency Exposure Exposure Return Return
Performance Obiective The three initiated hedging mandates ) ) (%) Return Return (%)
N/A J have all slightly underperformed their (%) (%)
benchmark returns since inception usD 491,943,312 0 (1.92%) 0.97% 0.50% (1.42%)
EUR 188,257,965 0 2.93% 1.50% 0.77% 2.16%
Manager Research and Developments () ° ’ ()
JPY 120,361,671 0 (2.66%) 1.35% 0.74% (1.92%)
Over the quarter, sterling depreciated against the US dollar and the yen and Total 800,562,949 0 (2.27%) 1.15% 0.60% (1.67%)
remained largely unchanged against the euro. . . ”
Passive Developed Equity Hedge** - started on 30 October 2015
On 39 October 2015, thg_dynamlc hedging omandate was closed and a new Start End Currency Beni(m\ark I:IZ%org Net
passive mandate was |_n|t|ated to hedge 50% of the currency exposure on Currency Exposure Exposure B 9 R
d@eloped global equities (dollar, euro and yen), and 100% on the hedge (€) (€) (%) Re:“"“ Re:“"“ (%)
fdnd and global property mandates; in practice, as the change to the hedging (%) (%)
p@icy for equities was agreed earlier in the month, Record effectively “froze” usD 519,385,896 543,272,596 4.78% (2.08%) (2.07%) 2.66%
thisir dynamic hedging ratios in mid October when the dynamic hedge was EUR 202,510,453 201,088,471 3.04% (1.30%) (1.35%) 1.79%
0,
near 50%. JPY 130,307,306 136,648,893  5.11% (2.08%) (2.18%) 2.93%
Performance for each of these separate periods and accounts is shown to Total 852,203,655 881,009,960 4.43% (1.88%) (1.91%) 2.50%
th.e right; as expected, performance for t.he passive mandate has been in line Passive Hedge Fund Hedge** - started on 30 October 2015
with the (informal) benchmark; where this differs from the movement in 100% R d
currency rates this relates to the timing of the implementation trades (2pm) Start End Currency Benchn:ark H‘:‘::e Net
and the currency rates quoted (4pm fix). Such significant divergence would Currency Exposure Exposure Return Return Return Return
not be expected for future periods. (£) (£) (%) (%) (%) (%)
Reason for investment usD 59,388,255 183,189,146 4.78% (4.12%) (4.21%) 0.44%
Total 59,388,255 183,189,146  4.78% (4.12%) (4.21%) 0.44%
To manage the volatility arising from overseas currency exposure, whilst - ”
attempting to minimise negative cashflows that can arise from currency Passive Property Hedge** - started on 30 October 2015
hedging Start End Currency ez L Net
Currency Exposure Exposure Return ERIC o L) Return
Reason for manager X Return Return "
(£) (£) (%) (%) (%) (%)
° Straightforward technical (i.e. based on price information) process uUsb 31,856,476 31,048,435 4.78% (4.14%) (4.10%) 0.54%
* Does not reply on human intervention EUR 118,279,395 110,809,724 3.04% (2.58%) (2.62%) 0.54%
« Strong IT infrastructure and currency specialists Total 150,135,871 141,858,158 3.42% (2.90%) (2.92%) 0.54%
© MERCER 2016 * Figures from 30 September 2015 to 30 October 2015. 45

** Figures from 30 October 2015 to 31 December 2015.



APPENDIX 1
SUMMARY OF MANDATES

V

© MERCER 2016 46




SUMMARY OF MANDATES

In line with customised benchmarks using

BlackRock Passive Multi-Asset monthly mean fund weights -
Jupiter Asset Management UK Equities (Socially Responsible Investing) FTSE All Share +2%
TT International UK Equities (Unconstrained) FTSE All Share +3-4%
Schroder Global Equities (Unconstrained) MSCI AC World Index Free +4%
Genesis Emerging Market Equities MSCI EM IMI TR -
Unigestion Emerging Market Equities MSCIEM NET TR +2-4%
Invesco Global ex-UK Equities (Enhanced Indexation) MSCI World ex UK NDR +0.5%
o SSgA Europe ex-UK Equities (Enhanced Indexation) FTSE AW Europe ex UK +0.5%
% SSgA Pacific inc. Japan Equities (Enhanced Indexation) FTSE AW Dev Asia Pacific +0.5%
g Pyrford Diversified Growth Fund RPI +5% p.a. -
Standard Life Diversified Growth Fund 6 Month LIBOR +5% p.a. -
JP Morgan Fund of Hedge Funds 3 Month LIBOR +3% p.a. -
Schroder UK Property IPD UK Pooled +1%
Partners Overseas Property IPD Global Pooled +2%
Royal London Asset Management UK Corporate Bonds iBoxx £ Non-Gilts All Maturities +0.8%
Record Passive Currency Hedging N/A -
Cash Internally Managed 7 Day LIBID -

© MERCER 2016

47



APPENDIX 2
g\AARKET STATISTICS
INDICES

© MERCER 2016 48




MARKET STATISTICS INDICES

UK Equities FTSE All-Share
Global Equity FTSE All-World
Overseas Equities FTSE World ex UK
US Equities FTSE USA
Europe (ex-UK) Equities FTSE W Europe ex UK
Japanese Equities FTSE Japan
Asia Pacific (ex-Japan) Equities FTSE W Asia Pacific ex Japan
Emerging Markets Equities FTSE AW Emerging
Global Small Cap Equities FTSE World Small Cap
—_Hedge Funds HFRX Global Hedge Fund
& High Yield Bonds BofA Merrill Lynch Global High Yield
g Emerging Market Debt JP Morgan GBI EM Diversified Composite
® Property IPD UK Monthly Total Return: All Property
Commodities S&P GSCI
Over 15 Year Gilts FTA UK Gilts 15+ year
Sterling Non Gilts BofA Merrill Lynch Sterling Non Gilts All Stocks
Over 5 Year Index-Linked Gilts FTA UK Index Linked Gilts 5+ year
Global Bonds BofA Merrill Lynch Global Broad Market
Global Credit Barclays Capital Global Credit
Eurozone Government Bonds BofA Merrill Lynch EMU Direct Government
Cash BofA Merrill Lynch United Kingdom Sterling LIBOR 3 month constant maturity

These are the indices used in this report for market commentary; individual strategy returns are shown against their specific benchmarks.

© MERCER 2016 49



APPENDIX 3
%’;{CHANGES IN YIELDS

© MERCER 2016 50




CHANGES

. 31 December 30 September 31 December 31 December
0,
Asset Class Yields (% p.a.) 2015 2015 2014 2013

IN YIELDS

Bond yields rose across all maturities over
the quarter, resulting in negative returns for
investors.

In the UK, government bond yields increased
by ¢.10-20 bps across the curve, with the
increase most pronounced at medium to long
end of the curve. Despite this, nominal yields
remain well below long-term average levels.
Real yields also rose over the quarter, with

UK Equities 3.70 3.71 3.37 3.28 ) X
the Over 5 Year Index-Linked Gilts Index
Over 15 Year Gilts 2.57 2.38 242 3.58 posting a negative return of 3.3%.
o . » Credit spreads narrowed over the quarter by
Over 5 Year Index-Linked Gilts 0.70 0.83 0.75 0.05 ¢.10 bps and amounted to c.1.4% for both the
Sterling Non Gilts 3.23 3.16 2.99 3.85 Sterling Non-Gilts All Stocks and Sterling
Non-Gilts Over 10 Year indices at the end of
December. The benefit from the narrowing of
credit spreads along with the income earned
on corporate bond investment more than
offset the negative impact of a rise in gilt
yields, leading UK credit assets to post a
av) positive return of 0.5% in sterling terms.
& Nominal yield curves Real yield curves
)
68 6.0 6.0 60
O — NOminal Vel (%35 al AN jethandsaiel 0090 0 eeee- Nominal Yiedl (% as 3k M02015 (% hand scale} RealYiel (hyasaid 1422015 (fifandssale}] @ = =-0zZdl 0z e;;;=-.- ‘Feeal Yield [%) 35 3130472015 (ke nand scale)
- = Nomidal Yiell [%)as al 31AE2004 (@t nand scake) haminal Yiell (%) asal 3112 M012 (kR hand scalke) - = FEE YR %) 36313 TAZ2014 (R AENd soale) Real Yield 1% @5 3131/12/2012 flefinand scale)
5.0 1 Yiela Change Qver Quarer fright Hand Soale) e B4 TnERgE Dy er YERT IR NEN0 5526 950 20 1 Yieig Crange Over Qoamer Fight Hand o3k e Y B4 CRENg0 CUErYear (AgRl nand SI3E) F A
—— Y Change Over 3 Years (Aghthand scais: Yieig Changa Over Three Years [Agntmand seaie)
40 4 - 4.0 40 + 40
30 | : 30 30 L 30
20 20 4 20
10 10 4 L 10
T * : * o T o T #00 00 * : - * W T s # 00
~ A
F S S A A S ——
A — N y " A-H4D 10 ,,.---;_'::‘-‘-“-'-'“""‘m"""""' """ i e iz i N |
- o* -
2.0 1 20 =20 4 2.0
30 30 -30 3.0
1 3 10 13 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 1 5 10 15 20 25 30 b 40 45 a0
Source: Mercer. Tamoern Source: Mercer. g
© MERCER 2016 51




APPENDIX 4
GUIDE TO MERCER
RATINGS

© MERCER 2016 52




GUIDE TO MERCER RATINGS

INTRODUCTION

This is a guide to the investment strategy research ratings (herein referred to as rating[s]) produced by Mercer’s Investments business (herein referred to as Mercer). It
describes what the ratings are intended to mean and how they should and should not be interpreted.

If you have any questions or would like more information about specific topics after reading this guide, please contact your Mercer consultant or click “Contact us” on our
website www.mercer.com.

WHAT DO MERCER’S RATINGS SIGNIFY?

Mercer’s ratings signify Mercer’s opinion of an investment strategy’s prospects for outperforming a suitable benchmark over a time frame appropriate for that particular
strategy (herein referred to as outperformance). The rating is recorded in the strategy’s entry on Mercer's Global Investment Manager Database (GIMD™) at
www.mercergimd.com.

Mercer’s ratings are normally assigned to investment strategies rather than to specific funds or vehicles. In this context, the term “strategy” refers to the process that leads to
the construction of a portfolio of investments, regardless of whether the strategy is offered in separate account format or through one or more investment vehicles. There are
exceptions to this practice. These are primarily in real estate and private markets where the rating is normally applied to specific funds.

WHAT DO MERCER’S RATINGS NOT SIGNIFY?
éf‘his section contains important exclusions and warnings; please read it carefully.
(East Performance

'\'?‘he rating assigned to a strategy may or may not be consistent with its past performance. While the rating reflects Mercer’s expectations on future performance relative to a
suitable benchmark over a time frame appropriate for the particular strategy, Mercer does not guarantee that these expectations will be fulfilled.

Creditworthiness
Unlike those of credit rating agencies, Mercer’s ratings are not intended to imply any opinions about the creditworthiness of the manager providing the strategy.
Vehicle-Specific Considerations

As Mercer’s ratings are normally assigned to strategies rather than to specific investment vehicles, potential investors in specific investment vehicles should consider not
only the Mercer ratings for the strategies being offered through those investment vehicles but also any investment vehicle-specific considerations. These may include, for
example, frequency of dealing dates and any legal, tax, or regulatory issues relating to the type of investment vehicle and where it is domiciled. Mercer’s ratings do not
constitute individualized investment advice.

Management Fees

To determine ratings, Mercer does not generally take investment management fees into account. The rationale for this is that, due to differing account sizes, differing
inception dates, or other factors, the fees charged for a specific strategy will vary among clients. Potential investors in a specific strategy should therefore consider not only
the Mercer rating for that strategy but also the competitiveness of the fee schedule that they have been quoted. The area of Alternative Investments is an exception —
Mercer follows market practice for “Alternatives” and rates strategies on a net of fees basis.

© MERCER 2016 53



GUIDE TO MERCER RATINGS

Operational Assessment

Mercer’s research process and ratings do not include an evaluation of a manager’s custodian, prime brokerage, or other vendor relationships, or an assessment of the
manager’s back office operations, including any compliance, legal, accounting, or tax analyses of the manager or the manager’s investment vehicles. Research is generally
limited to the overall investment decision-making process used by managers. In forming a rating, Mercer’s investment researchers do not generally perform corporate-level
operational infrastructure due diligence on a manager and do not perform financial or criminal background checks on investment management staff. Unless Mercer’s
investment researchers are aware of material information to the contrary (such as a view expressed by a manager’s auditors or Mercer Sentinel®; see section 9), they
assume that the manager’s operational infrastructure is reasonable. Operational weaknesses that Mercer’s investment researchers discover during their analysis of the four
factors outlined in section 4 will be noted and, where appropriate, taken into account in determining ratings.

FACTORS CONSIDERED IN FORMING A RATING

In order to determine the rating for a particular strategy, Mercer’s investment researchers review the strategy on the basis of four specific factors — idea generation, portfolio
construction, implementation, and business management — each of which is assigned one of four scores: negative (-), neutral (=), positive (+), or very positive (++).

Mercer believes that idea generation, portfolio construction, and implementation are the main components of every investment process. These factors are defined as:

Idea generation encompasses everything that the investment manager (herein referred to as manager) does to determine the relative attractiveness of different
investments.

o
aPortfolio construction refers to the manner in which the manager translates investment ideas into decisions on which investments to include in a portfolio and what
mveightings to give to each of these investments.

\l
Umplementation refers to the capabilities surrounding activities that are required to achieve the desired portfolio structure.

Mercer believes that managers that do these activities well should have above-average prospects of outperformance. However, Mercer also believes that to remain
competitive over longer periods, managers must be able to maintain and enhance their capabilities in these three areas. To do this, managers need to have significantly
strong business management, which is the fourth factor Mercer assesses.

Business management refers to the overall stability of the firm, firm resources, and overall operations.

The four factors above apply to most product categories that Mercer researches. Variations on these factors are used in some product categories. Examples here include
passive strategies, liability driven investment and private markets.

A strategy’s overall rating is not determined as a weighted average of the four factor scores, and no prescribed calculations are made to arrive at the four-factor score or the
overall rating. Instead, for each strategy, Mercer’s investment researchers identify which factors Mercer believes are most relevant to a manager's investment process and
place weight on the factors accordingly. Example considerations include:

= Mercer’s confidence in the manager’s ability to generate value-adding ideas.

= Mercer’s view on any specified outperformance target.

= The opportunities available in the relevant market(s) to achieve outperformance.

= An assessment of the risks taken to try to achieve outperformance.

= An assessment of the strategy relative to peer strategies.

= An assessment of the manager’s business management and its impact on particular strategies.

© MERCER 2016 54



GUIDE TO MERCER RATINGS

MERCER RATING SCALE

D

A Strategies assessed as having “above average” prospects of outperformance
B+ Strategies assessed as having “above average” prospects of outperformance, but which are qualified by at least one of the
following:
" There are other strategies that Mercer believes are more likely to achieve outperformance
" Mercer requires more evidence to support its assessment
B Strategies assessed as having “average” prospects of outperformance
C Strategies assessed as having “below average” prospects of outperformance
;?N/no rating Strategies not currently rated by Mercer
@R The R rating is applied in three situations:
N . Where Mercer has carried out some research, but has not completed its full investment strategy research process
" In product categories where Mercer does not maintain formal ratings but where there are other strategies in which we

have a higher degree of confidence
" Mercer has in the past carried out its full investment-strategy research process on the strategy, but we are no longer
maintaining full research coverage

The above definitions apply to the majority of product categories researched by Mercer. However for some product categories the rating scale reflects Mercer’'s
degree of confidence in a manager’s ability to achieve a strategy’s stated aims. Examples of where this applies include low volatility equities, cash, passive, liability
driven strategies and DC specific solutions.

© MERCER 2016

55



GUIDE TO MERCER RATINGS

SUPPLEMENTAL INDICATORS

Provisional (P)

If the Mercer strategy rating is followed by a (P) - for example, A (P) or B+ (P) - the rating is “provisional” - that is, there is temporary uncertainty about the rating, but it is
expected that this will soon be resolved. For example, should two managers announce a merger, but without further details, this uncertainty may be highlighted by modifying
the rating strategies for one or both of those firms - for instance, from A to A (P). (P) indicators are intended to be temporary and should normally last for no more than two
weeks. As soon as the temporary uncertainty has been resolved, or if it becomes apparent that this uncertainty is unlikely to be resolved quickly, the (P) indicator will be
removed and the rating confirmed or changed, or the strategy will be assigned the indicator “watch” (W).

Watch (W)

If the Mercer strategy rating is followed by a (W) — for example, A (W) or B+ (W) - the rating is “watch” - there is some uncertainty about the rating and resolution is not
expected soon, but Mercer believes there is a low probability that the resolution of this uncertainty will lead to a change in the strategy’s rating. (W) indicators are typically
issued when there is an expectation of long-term uncertainty surrounding the rating - for example, a change, or potential change, in a manager’s ownership.

§pecifically Assigning (P) and (W) Supplemental Indicators

3}3) and (W) indicators are assigned - and removed - by the regular ratings review process described earlier; however, there are circumstances where organizational or

Ueputational issues that affect a manager warrant the specific assignment of a (P) or (W) indicator to an existing rating. In such circumstances, the decision to apply - or
remove - a (P) or (W) indicator is taken by two senior members of the leadership group of the Manager Research team. These occasions are rare, and the relevant
investment researchers will contribute to any discussions before a (P) or (W) indicator is assigned or removed.

High Tracking Error (T)

If the Mercer strategy rating is followed by a (T) — for example, A (T) or B+ (T) — the strategy is considered to have the potential to generate a tracking error substantially
higher than the average for the relevant product category. In this context, “tracking error” refers to the variability of performance relative to the nominated benchmark for the
strategy. A strategy may be assigned the (T) indicator because the potential for high tracking error has been demonstrated by the strategy’s past performance and/or
because the nature of the investment process is such that a significantly higher than average tracking error could be expected. The absence of a (T) following a rating does
not guarantee that the strategy’s tracking error will not be higher than the average for the relevant product category.

NICHE STRATEGIES

Mercer categorize a limited number of strategies as Niche. The Niche categorization is applied to strategies that are perceived as highly differentiated. Mercer does not have
specific rules as to what characterizes a Niche strategy but examples might include strategies where a manager is seeking to exploit anomalies not generally recognized by
other market participants. It might also be applied to strategies with a short track record and/or limited assets under management.

© MERCER 2016 56



GUIDE TO MERCER RATINGS

RESEARCH INDICATIONS - INDICATIVE VIEW

For strategies where Mercer has conducted some initial research, we may apply Mercer Research Indications. Mercer's Research Indications are an indication of
whether a strategy merits deeper / further due diligence. This indication is shown by an assigned indicative view, identified as a colour. A Research Indication does not
necessarily result in future research. All Research Indications are assigned as R rating.

= Red - further research has “below average” prospects of resulting in an investable rating.
= Amber - further research has “average” prospects of resulting in an investable rating.
= Green - further research has “above average” prospects of resulting in an investable rating.

An investable rating is defined as an A or B+.

OPERATIONAL RISK ASSESSMENTS

Mercer Sentinel, a division within Mercer, undertakes operational risk assessments (ORAs) on managers, most often on behalf of clients. These ORAs assess
—wnanagers’ operations and implementation risk profiles and cover some of the areas mentioned in section 3, as well as other areas related to operational risk. ORAs are
&mdertaken separately from the Manager Research process; however, the results are shared with the Lead Researcher for the manager. A Mercer Sentinel ORA that
Toncludes with an unsatisfactory rating (namely, a “Review” rating) for a manager will result in an immediate (P) rating for all that manager’s relevant rated strategies.
Eﬂ)iscussions will follow and any subsequent change in investment rating will be ratified by the standard Manager Research process. Contact your Mercer consultant for

more information.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE RATINGS

Mercer also assigns ratings to strategies that represent Mercer’s view on the extent to which environmental, social and corporate governance (ESG) and active
ownership practices (voting and engagement) are integrated into the manager’s investment process and decision-making across asset classes. ESG factors are
incorporated into the investment process on the basis that these issues can impact revenue, operating costs, competitive advantage, and the cost of capital. During
discussions with managers about ESG integration, Mercer assesses the use of ESG information to generate outperformance.

© MERCER 2016

57



GUIDE TO MERCER RATINGS

ESG Rating Scale

The highest ESG rating is assigned to strategies that Mercer believes to be leaders in integrating ESG and active ownership
ESG1 into their core processes, and that provide clear evidence that ESG overall, or a particular ESG theme, is core to idea

generation and portfolio construction.

The second highest rating is assigned to strategies that, in Mercer’s view, include ESG factors as part of decision making, with
ESG2 a strong level of commitment made at a firmwide level and some indication that data and research are being taken into

account by the managers in their valuations and investment process.

The penultimate rating is assigned to strategies for which, in Mercer’s view, the manager has made some progress with
ESG3 respect to ESG integration and/or active ownership, but for which there is little evidence that ESG factors are taken into
consideration in valuations and investment process.
The lowest ESG rating is assigned to strategies for which, in Mercer’s view, little has been done to integrate ESG and active
ownership into their core process.

ESG4

o
tg:or passive strategies, Mercer applies an ESGp1 through to ESGp4. There are two key distinctions between ESG ratings for passive and active strategies. First, for

assive, the bulk of the focus is on voting and engagement practices. Second, most of Mercer’s analysis focuses on firm-wide levels of commitment rather than at the
~Iindividual strategy level.

RATINGS REVIEW COMMITTEES

Mercer has a process for reviewing and ratifying the ratings proposed by individual investment researchers. For most product categories, strategy ratings are reviewed
regularly by one of several RRCs that operate within Mercer. These committees are composed of professionals from Mercer’s investment research and consulting groups
who draw on research carried out by Mercer investment researchers and consultants. The role of the RRCs is to review this research from a quality control perspective
and ensure consistency of treatment across strategies within a product category.

For certain asset classes, ratings will not have been reviewed by an RRC; however, the rating will have been reviewed by at least two suitably qualified investment
researchers or consultants other than the recommending researcher. An R rating will not necessarily have been reviewed by an RRC but will have been subject to
Mercer's standard peer review process.

CONFIDENTIALITY OF MERCER’S RATINGS

Mercer’s ratings, along with all other information relating to Mercer’s opinions on managers and the investment strategies they offer, represent Mercer’s confidential and
proprietary intellectual property and are subject to change without notice. The information is intended for the exclusive use of the parties to whom it was provided by
Mercer and may not be modified, sold, or otherwise provided, in whole or in part, to any other person or entity (including managers) without Mercer’s prior written
permission.

© MERCER 2016



MAKE & MERCER
TOMORROW,
TODAY

8/ abed

Mercer Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority Registered in England No. 984275.
Registered Office: 1 Tower Place West, Tower Place, London EC3R 5BU.



Bath & North East
Somerset Council

Access to Information Arrangements

Exclusion of access by the public to Council meetings

Information Compliance Ref: LGA 0375/16

Meeting / Decision: AVON PENSION FUND INVESTMENT PANEL

Date: 24" February 2016

Author: Matt Betts

Report Title: Item - Review of Investment Performance for periods ending 31
December 2015

Appendix 1 — Fund Valuation
Appendix 2 — Mercer performance monitoring report (shortened version)
Exempt Appendix 3 — RAG Monitoring Summary Report

The Report contains exempt information, according to the categories set out
in the Local Government Act 1972 (amended Schedule 12A). The relevant
exemption is set out below.

Stating the exemption:
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular
person (including the authority holding that information).

The public interest test has been applied, and it is concluded that the public
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosure at this time. It is therefore recommended that the Report be
withheld from publication on the Council website. The paragraphs below set
out the relevant public interest issues in this case.

PUBLIC INTEREST TEST

If the Committee wishes to consider a matter with press and public excluded,
it must be satisfied on two matters.

Firstly, it must be satisfied that the information likely to be disclosed falls
within one of the accepted categories of exempt information under the Local

Page 79 Page 1 of 2




Bath & North East
Somerset Council

Government Act 1972. Paragraph 3 of the revised Schedule 12A of the 1972
Act exempts information which relates to the financial or business affairs of
the organisations which is commercially sensitive to the organisations. The
officer responsible for this item believes that this information falls within the
exemption under paragraph 3 and this has been confirmed by the Council’s
Information Compliance Manager.

Secondly, it is necessary to weigh up the arguments for and against
disclosure on public interest grounds. The main factor in favour of disclosure
is that all possible Council information should be public and that increased
openness about Council business allows the public and others affected by
any decision the opportunity to participate in debates on important issues in
their local area. Another factor in favour of disclosure is that the public and
those affected by decisions should be entitled to see the basis on which
decisions are reached.

Weighed against this is the fact that the exempt appendix contains the
opinions of Council officers and Panel members. It would not be in the public
interest if advisors and officers could not express in confidence opinions
which are held in good faith and on the basis of the best information available.

The exempt appendix also contain details of the investment
processes/strategies of the investment managers. The information to be
discussed is commercially sensitive and if disclosed could prejudice the
commercial interests of the investment managers.

It is also important that the Committee should be able to retain some degree
of private thinking space while decisions are being made, in order to discuss
openly and frankly the issues under discussion relating to the investment
managers in order to make a decision which is in the best interests of the
Fund’s stakeholders.

The Council considers that the public interest has been served by the fact that
a significant amount of information regarding the Investment Performance
Report has been made available — by way of the main report. The Council
considers that the public interest is in favour of not holding this matter in open
session at this time and that any reporting on the meeting is prevented in
accordance with Section 100A(5A)

Page 80 Page 2 of 2



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 82



	Agenda
	7 MINUTES: 18 NOVEMBER 2015
	8 REVIEW OF INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE FOR PERIODS ENDING 31 DEC 2015
	Item 8 - Review of Investment Performance - Appendix 1
	Item 8 - Appendix 2
	Exemption Notice - Item 8 Appendix 3
	Item 8 - Exempt appendix 3


